



The Wolfson* Foundation



Skills for adolescent WELLbeing (SWELL): protocol for a preventive effectiveness randomised controlled trial for young people at high-familial risk of depression with treatment optimisation for parents with depression at study entry comparing online group Cognitive Behavioural Therapy (CBT) to treatment as usual

[Title for participants/public: Skills for adolescent WELLbeing (SWELL)]

V5.8

5th March 2025

Sponsor:	Cardiff University Research Governance Team Research and Innovation Services 7 th Floor, McKenzie House 30-36 Newport Road Cardiff. CF24 0DE		
Sponsor ref:	SPON1902-22		
Funder:	The Wolfson Foundation		
Funder ref:	22233		
REC ref:	22/WA/0254		
IRAS number:	305331		
ISRCTN ref:	ISRCTN13924193		
Q-Pulse Document Template Number:	TPL/003/2, v4.0		







SIGNATURE PAGE

The undersigned confirm that the following protocol has been agreed and accepted and that the Chief Investigator agrees to conduct the trial in compliance with the approved protocol and will adhere to the principles outlined in the relevant trial regulations, GCP guidelines, and CTR's SOPs. I agree to ensure that the confidential information contained in this document will not be used for any other purpose other than the evaluation or conduct of the clinical investigation without the prior written consent of the Sponsor.

I also confirm that I will make the findings of the trial publicly available through publication or other dissemination tools without any unnecessary delay and that an honest accurate and transparent account of the trial will be given; and that any discrepancies from the trial as planned in this protocol will be explained.

Helen Falconer **Research Governance Officer** Name Position Signature Date Director: Dr Rachel McNamara Name Signature Date **Chief Investigator:** Prof. Fran Rice Name Signature Date

Trial Sponsor: Cardiff University

General Information This protocol describes the SWELL trial and provides information about the procedures for entering participants into the trial. The protocol should not be used as a guide, or as an aide-memoire for the treatment of other participants. Every care has been taken in drafting this protocol; however, corrections or amendments may be necessary. These will be circulated to the known Investigators in the trial. Problems relating to the trial should be referred, in the first instance, to the Centre for Trials Research.







Contact details - Chief Investigator & Co-Investigators

CHIEF INVESTIGATOR Title and name – Prof Frances Rice Position: Professor Address: Hadyn Ellis Building, Maindy Rd, Cardiff Postcode: CF24 4HQ Tel : +44 (0)29 20 688384 E-mail : RiceF2@cardiff.ac.uk

CO-INVESTIGATORS Title and name: Prof Jonathan Bisson Position: Professor E-mail: <u>BissonJI@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Prof Simon Murphy Position: Professor E-mail: <u>MurphyS7@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Dr Rachel McNamara Position: Principal Research Fellow E-mail: <u>McNamara@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Prof Anita Thapar Position: Professor E-mail: Thapar@cardiff.ac.uk

Directly employed staff contact details:

Title and name: Dr Victoria Powell Position: Research Associate E-mail: <u>PowellV@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Dr Olga Eyre Position: Clinical Research Fellow E-mail: <u>EyreO2@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Dr Rhys Bevan Jones Position: Senior Research Fellow Email: <u>bevanjonesr1@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Dr Jac Airdrie Position: Clinical Psychologist Email: <u>airdriej@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Dr Daniel Michaelson Position: Clinical Psychologist Email: <u>d.michelson@sussex.ac.uk</u> Title and name: Dr Rebecca Playle Position: Reader E-mail: <u>PlayleRA@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Prof Graham Moore Position: Professor E-mail: <u>mooreg@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Prof Neil Harrison Position: Professor Email: <u>HarrisonN4@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Miss Emily Barnacle Position: Psychology Assistant Email: <u>barnaclee1@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Miss Ellie Daniel Position: Psychology Assistant Email: <u>daniele2@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Felicity Lewis Position: Psychological Therapist Email: <u>lewisf14@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Caroline Blake Position: Psychological Therapist Email: <u>blakec7@cardiff.ac.uk</u>

Title and name: Bethan Jenkins Position: Psychological Therapist Email: jenkinsb16<u>@cardiff.ac.uk</u>







Sponsor contact details:

Cardiff University

Research Governance Team Research and Innovation Services Cardiff University 7th Floor, McKenzie House 30-36 Newport Road Cardiff. CF24 0DE

Trial Co-ordination:

The trial is being coordinated by the Centre for Trials Research (CTR), Cardiff University, a Clinical Research Collaboration (UKCRC) registered trials unit.

This protocol has been developed by the Trial Management Group (TMG).

For **all queries** please contact the trial team through the main trial email address. Any clinical queries will be directed through the Trial Manager to either the Chief Investigator or a Co-Investigator.

Main Trial Email:	SWELL@cardiff.ac.uk		
Chief Investigator	Prof Frances Rice	Email: ricef2@cardiff.ac.uk	
Trial Administrator:	Ellen Jones	Email: jonese182@cardiff.ac.uk	

Advisory team at the Centre for Trials Research (CTR) (Cardiff University):		
Director for Mind, Brain & Neuroscience Trials	Dr Rachel McNamara	Email: <u>McNamara@cardiff.ac.uk</u>
Director of Statistics	Dr Rebecca Playle	Email: PlayleRA@cardiff.ac.uk
Senior Research Fellow, Qualitative Methods	Dr Lucy Brookes-Howell	Email: <u>Brookes-HowellLC@cardiff.ac.uk</u>
Research Fellow/Senior Trial Manager	Elizabeth Randell	Email: <u>RandellE@cardiff.ac.uk</u>
CTR trial staff:		
Trial Manager	Rhys Williams-Thomas	Email: thomasr95@cardiff.ac.uk
Database programmer	Matthew Burt	Email: <u>burtmBurtm@cardiff.ac.uk</u>
Data Manager	Helen Stanton	Email: stantonhm1@cardiff.ac.uk
Trial Statistician	Dr Detelina Grozeva	Email: grozevadGrozevad@cardiff.ac.uk





The Wolfson* Foundation



Randomisations:

Randomisation

Randomisation will be set up by CTR staff according to a bespoke online system (see section 14 below). Randomisation will be conducted by this system. The SWELL research team will contact participants to inform them of which study arm they have been randomised to.

Clinical queries:

Clinical queries

SWELL@cardiff.ac.uk

All clinical queries will be directed to the most appropriate clinical person.

Serious Adverse Events:

SAE reporting

Where the adverse event meets one of the serious categories, an SAE form should be submitted to CTR within 24 hours of becoming aware of the event (See section 13 for more details).

Contact details: SWELL@cardiff.ac.uk; 02920876894





Mental Health

The Wolfson* Foundation



Table of Contents

Тс	update t	able of contents, hover cursor over the top left hand corner until the whole TOC	
hi	ghlights. I	Press the 'F9' button. Choose 'update entire table'.	
1	Amendn	nent History	. 10
2	Synopsis	5	. 18
3	Trial sur	nmary & schema	. 20
	3.1	Participant flow diagram	. 20
	3.2	Trial lay summary	
4	Backgro	und	
	4.1	Rationale for Current Trial/Justification of Treatment Options	. 25
5	Trial Obj	ectives/Endpoints & Outcomes	. 28
	5.1	Primary objective	
	5.2	Secondary objectives	
	5.3	Primary outcome	
	5.4	Secondary outcomes	
6.		ign and setting	
	6.1	Risk assessment	
7		Investigator Selection	
8	•	Int selection	
	8.1	Inclusion criteria for trial	
	8.2	Exclusion criteria for trial	. 36
	8.3	Inclusion criteria for professionals working on the trial who participate in	27
_		e interviews and/or focus groups	
9		nent, screening and registration	
	9.1	Participant identification	
	9.2	Recruitment flow charts	
	9.3	Screening logs	
	9.4	Recruitment rates	
	9.5	Informed consent	
	9.6	Registration and randomisation	
10		val & loss to follow-up	
	10.1	Withdrawal	
	10.2	Loss to follow-up	
11			
	11.1	SWELL intervention plus usual care versus usual care only	
40	11.2	Compliance	
12	•		
	12.1	Overview of assessments & data collection	
	12.2 12.3	Outcomes and measures (baseline and follow-up):	
		Follow-up Process evaluation	
	12.4		
	12.5	Data linkage	
40	12.6	Schedule of assessments for the trial	
13		eporting	
	13.1	Definitions	
	13.2	Trial Specific SAE Reporting requirements	.6/







13.3	Causality	. 67
13.4	Expectedness	. 68
13.5	Reporting procedures	. 69
13.6	Urgent Safety Measures (USMs)	. 70
14 Statisti	cal considerations	. 71
14.1	Randomisation	. 71
14.2	Blinding	. 71
14.3	Sample size	. 71
14.4	Missing, unused & spurious data	. 73
14.5	Procedures for reporting deviation(s) from the original SAPC	. 73
14.6	Termination of the trial	. 73
14.7	Inclusion in analysis	. 74
15 Analysi	is	. 74
15.1	Flow of participants	
15.2	Baseline data and participant characteristics	. 74
15.3	Effectiveness outcomes related to the SWELL intervention:	
15.4	Process evaluation:	. 75
15.5	Qualitative analysis of interviews and/or focus groups	. 75
15.6	Quantitative analysis of standardised interview and baseline questionnaires	
15.7	Primary outcome statistical analysis	
15.8	Secondary outcomes	. 77
16 Data M	lanagement	
16.1	Source Data	
16.2	Data collection	. 78
16.3	Completion of CRFs	. 79
Elect	tronic CRFs	
	itative Data	
	ol/GCP non-compliance	
	Trial definition	
	ng	
	tory Considerations	
20.1	Ethical and governance approval	
20.2	Data Protection	
20.3	Indemnity	
20.4	Trial sponsorship	
20.5	Funding	
	anagement	
21.1	TMG (Trial Management Group)	
21.2	TSC (Trial Steering Committee)	
	Control and Assurance	
22.1	Monitoring	
22.2	Audits & inspections	
	ation policy	
	nces	
		. 00





The Wolfson* Foundation



Glossary of abbreviations

AE	Adverse Event
ART	Analysis of Resources for Trials
ARI	Affective Reactivity Index
BADS-SF	Behavioural Activation Scale for Depression (BADS-SF)
CBT	Cognitive Behaviour Therapy
CBQ	Conflict Behaviour Questionnaire
CES-D	Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale
cGAS	Children's Global Assessment Scale
CI	Chief Investigator
CONSORT	Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials
CRPBI	Child's Report of Parent Behaviour Inventory
CRSI	Client Service Receipt Inventory
CRF	Case Report Form
CTR	Centre for Trials Research
CwS	Coping with Stress intervention
DAS-C	Dysfunctional Attitudes Scale for Children
DAWBA	Development and Well Being Assessment
DECIPHer	Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions for Public Health Improvements
DH	Department of Health
DSM	Diagnostic Statistical Manual
GAF	Global Assessment of Functioning
GCP	Good Clinical Practice
GP	General Practitioner
GSE	Generalised Self Efficacy Scale
HDRS	Hamilton Depression Rating Scale
iCBT	Internet-based Cognitive Behaviour Therapy
ISRCTN	International Standard Randomised Controlled Trial Number
LEC	Life Events Checklist
LIFE	Longitudinal Interval Follow-Up Evaluation
MAR	Missing at Random
MCID	Minimum Clinically Important Difference
MDD	Major Depressive Disorder
MHRA	Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency
MRC	Medical Research Council National Centre for Mental Health
NCMH	National Health Service
NHS	
NICE	National Institute for Clinical Excellence Patient Health Questionnaire-9
PHQ-9 PI	Principal Investigator
PIC	Participant Identification Centre
РМН	Primary Mental Health
PSS	Perceived Stress Scale
R&D	Research and Development
RCADS	Revised Children's Anxiety and Depression Scale
RCT	Randomised Controlled Trial
	Randomised controlled that







REC SAE	Research Ethics Committee Serious Adverse Event
SAIL	Secure Anonymised Information Linkage
SCAARED	Screen for Adult Anxiety Related Disorders
SCAN	Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry
SCDC	Social Communication Disorders Checklist
SOP	Standard Operating Procedure
TMG	Trial Management Group
TSC	Trial Steering Committee
WHODAS	World Health Organisation Disability Assessment Schedule
YP	Young Person/People







1 Amendment History

The following amendments and/or administrative changes have been made to this protocol since the implementation of the first approved version.

Amendment No. (specify substantial/non- substantial)	Protocol version no.	Date issued	Summary of changes made since previous version
1 – substantial	4	09/02/23 - Sent to Sponsor prior to submission of amendment to REC	The main changes proposed in this amendment are the addition of three new sites (previously PICs) to aid with the recruitment, screening and consenting of participants, in addition to minor changes to the study design and therefore the trial documents. These include minor amendments to the proposed sample size to improve the study's power to detect differences between the intervention and treatment-as-usual groups, the removal and shortening of questionnaires to reduce burden on participants, clarification on the processes that will be followed when recruiting via primary care, and clarification on how consent will be taken remotely. Each proposed change is shown in tracked changes in the copy of this document with tracked changes (Protocol_v_4_0_with_track_changes.docx).
Non substantial-2	4.6	May 2023	Changes to the protocol include (1) changing the study title to "An effectiveness randomised controlled trial of a group Cognitive Behavioural Therapy intervention programme for young people with parental depression treatment optimisation for the prevention of depression in high-risk adolescents: Skills for adolescent WELLbeing (SWELL)". This clearly describes the study and avoids abbreviations such as CBT; (2) changing the wording of inclusion criteria (ii) from "subthreshold







			depressive symptoms" to "currently elevated depressive symptoms (not meeting threshold for a major depressive episode)" to make this definition clearer; (3) changing the wording of inclusion criteria (vi) from "they and their participating parent have a valid email address or mobile phone number" to "they and their participating parent have a valid email address and mobile phone number". Participants are required to have both an email address and phone number to take part; (4) definition of suicidal ideation as an adverse event has been changed from "suicidal ideation" to "suicidal ideation (with a plan/method considered)" which provides a clearer definition of suicidal ideation for this study; (5) updated power calculations; (6) clarification of safety reporting procedures with additional text included in section 13 of the protocol; (7) clarification of the LIFE measure and method for establishing inter-rater reliability; (8) updated source data table in section 16.3.
Non- substantial-3	4.7	July 2023	This amendment removes the questionnaire measure ("Health and habits (e.g., exercise)" from the schedule of assessments table.
Non substantial-4	4.8	August 2023	Minor changes in the wording of the protocol involve a clarification regarding the parent treatment optimisation (PTO) part of the study. Online CBT will be recommended as part of the PTO depending on the needs of the individual. In situations where the SilverCloud CBT programme cannot be accessed, alternatives will be considered.
Non- substantial-5	4.9	September 2024	Minor clarifications to the screening process, namely the process used to communicate eligibility to the potential participant following screening.







Non- substantial-6	4.10	November 2024	This amendment includes clarifying wording of the exclusion criteria, making it clearer that if the young person is currently receiving CBT or has a history of psychosis they would not be eligible to take part.
Substantial-2	5.0	December 2024	The main change proposed in this amendment is the addition of schools and well being services as a method of participant recruitment. The other protocol amendment is adding a payment of £10 voucher to all participants who complete baseline questionnaires and interviews, and clarifying the timescale within which questionnaires and interviews should be completed at each follow up period.
Non- substantial-8	5.1	Submitted to sponsor 14.02.24	This amendment includes clarifying the screening procedure in cases where parent and young person report of current depression symptoms disagree (eligibility will be decided via clinical consensus), and where the parent does not wish to / is unable to take part in the parent treatment (baseline assessments are completed and the young person randomised). Parental PTSD has been removed as an exclusion criteria in order to make our eligibility criteria more inclusive. The study definition of adverse events has been minorly amended for clarity. We have extended recruitment via schools to the UK (as opposed to in Wales only) and via GP practices to Wales (as opposed to in South Wales only).
Substantial-3	5.2	Submitted to sponsor 23.02.24	Participant voucher payment amounts have been amended, increasing from a maximum of £60 to £80 per participant.







Non- substantial 9	5.3	Submitted to sponsor 22.04.24	This amendment includes changes to the eligibility criteria to make it more inclusive. Having received CBT in the past is no longer an exclusion criteria for the young person, and the definition of young person subthreshold
			depression symptoms has been reduced from a CES-D score of ≥ 20 to a score of ≥ 16 . Parents will also be eligible to take part if they have a history at least one depressive episode, rather than at least two episodes.
			Minor amendments have been made to screening procedures. Young person current depression diagnosis at screening will be assessed by asking the parent whether their child has a current diagnosis of depression diagnosed by a doctor. When assessing past depressive episodes for the parent and the young person, we will no longer ask about suicidal ideation, given ethical concerns around raising this during a screening call. Finally, if families are found to be ineligible at screening, but there is a possibility they may become eligible in the future, permission will be obtained to recontact the family in the future to check if their eligibility status has changed. Recruitment through GP practices has been extended to the whole of the UK instead of Wales
Non- substantial 10	5.4	Submitted to sponsor 20.05.24	only. This amendment involves changes to the SWELL study inclusion criteria. Firstly the age range of participants has been increased to 13-19 years (from 13-17 years). Secondly, in line with this age range increase, the inclusion criteria that states the young person should be "living with a parent" has been changed to "living (at least some of the time) with a parent". Also in line with the age increase, we have amended the protocol to allow us to advertise the study to young people directly. All relevant documents have been amended to







			reflect these changes, including the study protocol, participant information sheets, letter to GP cluster lead, letter informing GP of involvement, recruitment letter from GP to families, reminder letter from GP to families, Research Information sheet for Practices (RISP) and letter to schools. A new study invitation letter addressed to the young person (aged 18 and above) has also been produced. Consent forms have been amended so the most up to date versions of the information sheets are cited. Further minor amendments have been made to the protocol including introducing a timeframe by which the parent treatment optimisation (PTO) should be completed beyond the standard 12 weeks (it should be completed within 12+3 weeks of starting the PTO). The definition of Adverse Events has also been clarified, by removing a standard definition that is not relevant to this trial. Additional potential avenues for recruitment have also been included (CRIS and SAIL). Minor amendments have also been made to the letter to schools to shorten it and make it more accessible. In the recruitment letter from GP to families the word "booklet" has been changed to "leaflet" so it matches with the materials being sent out to families. Finally, an additional signposting resource for families (Melo Cymru- https://www.melo.cymru/) has been added to the information leaflets.
Non substantial amendment 12	5.5	Submitted 23.10.24	This amendment involves adding the names of the NIHR Clinical Research Network (CRN) teams, who are supporting us with advertising the study to GP surgeries in the UK, to the GP recruitment section of the study protocol. In the same section, a minor edit has been made to clarify the text/mail out process to potential participants at GP surgeries.







Non substantial	5.6	This amendment involves some minor changes to
amendment 13	5.0	the protocol. This includes adding the names of additional NIHR Clinical Research Network (CRN) teams (South London CRN and South London RDN) to the recruitment section of the study protocol. In the same section, the availability of a GP database search developed for SystmOne has been included, and an additional recruitment procedure for ABUHB primary CAMHS has been added.
		Clarifications to the protocol have also been made around adverse event (AE) reporting. Only adverse events in the young people taking part will be reported (not events that occur in the parents). These adverse events can be reported by either young person or their parent. A sentence has been added to state that where both young person and parent report the same AE, a separate reporting form will be used for each reporter. Where the same adverse event is ongoing (e.g. recurrent self- harm) it will be reported the first time it occurs, and again where there is a change (e.g. new method of self-harm or change in severity of self- harm using the same method). Additional information has also been added to the protocol to clarify the level of monitoring of questionnaire data by the research team. Online questionnaires completed by participants will be accessed at the end of the study by the research team for analysis only. Finally, more detail has been added to the qualitative analysis section on the protocol about the planned analysis (framework analysis). This amendment also includes 2 text templates (a longer and a shorter version) for GPs send to potential participants. The most recent versions of the postcards to be sent to English GP practices are also included.







Non substantial	5.7	Submitted	This amendment involves a number of minor
amendment 14		14.02.25	changes to the study protocol. The title has been amended so that it includes the study design, population, interventions and trial acronym (in line with SPIRIT guidance). Members of staff involved in the project have been added/updated. In the statistical considerations section of the protocol, expected loss to follow up at 9 months has been changed from 20% to 10%, in line with previous research. We have also defined the minimal clinically important difference (MCID) value "HR of at least 0.60 (equivalent to an 11% difference in MDD between intervention arms)" and added text that justifies this. Power calculations have been updated due to the change to the expected attrition rate. Minor changes to wording have been made throughout the protocol for increased clarity and accuracy of study procedure. We have added clarification that consent for linkage to routine data will be via SAIL for participants in Wales and via NHS Digital for participants in England. We have also added a reference to a new grant that will fund this linkage (Wellcome Trust 303982/Z/23/Z). Text has been removed from the protocol to avoid repetition and text that is no longer relevant has been removed. Throughout the protocol minor changes have been made to wording to make it clearer and more readable and grammatical errors have been corrected. Page numbers have been amended and the contents page updated.
Non substantial amendment 15	5.8	Submitted 21.03.25	This amendment involves minor changes to the study protocol. In section 13 (Safety reporting), the adverse event (AE) "self-harm" has been changed to "deliberate self-harm". This reflects more accurately the adverse event being reported. Wording has also been amended so that "all SAEs and AEs will be reported by the CTR and discussed as a standard agenda item by the TSC during their





The Wolfson* Foundation



routine meetings", rather than "by the TMG and
TSC". This reflects study procedures. In section 2
(synopsis) and 8 (participant selection) the
inclusion criteria wording has been amended from
"Living (at least some of the time) with a parent
(biological or non-biological) who has a history of
unipolar depression" to "Living (at least some of
the time) with a parent/carer (biological or non-
biological) who has a history of unipolar
depression" so it is clear that a parent or carer
can take part. In section 9 (recruitment, screening
and registration) details have been added
explaining the process for reconsenting
participants who turn 16 during the course of the
study, or when reconsenting is needed for other
reasons (e.g. amendments to the consent form).

List summary of protocol amendments here whenever a new version of the protocol is produced. Ensure details are also updated in a full protocol change log.



Ymchwil Treialon



The Wolfson* Foundation



2 Synopsis

Short title	Skills for Adolescent Well-Being		
Acronym	SWELL		
Internal ref. no.	UID910		
Funder and ref.	The Wolfson Foundation		
Trial design	Randomised controlled effectiveness trial		
Trial participants	Young people aged 13 to 19 years old with currently elevated depressive symptoms (not meeting threshold for a major depressive episode) and/or a history of depression, and parent/carer with a history of depression. The young person's parent with a history of depression will also be asked to participate. Professionals working on the trial will be given the opportunity to participate in qualitative interviews and/or focus groups.		
Planned sample size	Up to 400 young people		
Planned number of sites	5 to 6		
Inclusion criteria	Adolescents will be eligible for the study if: i) they are aged 13-19 years, ii) they are currently experiencing elevated depressive symptoms and/or have a history of a major depressive episode according to DSM-5 criteria but they do not have a current diagnosis of depression (because treatment would be indicated), iii) they are living (at least some of the time) with a parent/carer (biological or non-biological) with a history of depression who is willing to consider engaging with a depression treatment plan, iv) they and their participating parent have the ability to complete trial activities as specified in the protocol, e.g., can communicate in English , v) they and their participating parent have a valid email address and mobile phone number. The inclusion criteria for trial professionals participating in qualitative interviews/focus groups are: works on the trial as a therapist leading the young person CBT groups, or as a trial psychiatrist optimising parent depression treatment.		
Exclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria are: i) young person is currently receiving antidepressant medication, ii) young person is currently receiving cognitive behavioural therapy (CBT), iii) young person has a current diagnosis of depression, iv) young person has generalized learning difficulties that would prevent them from completing trial activities, v) young person has current substance or alcohol abuse disorder, a diagnosis of bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, psychosis or eating disorder, vi) parent has a diagnosis of bipolar disorder, schizophrenia or personality disorder, vii) parent is receiving treatment from secondary mental health services (e.g. community mental health team or psychiatrist), viii) parent or young person is not resident in the UK		
Treatment duration	8 weekly 60-minute acute sessions followed by 3 monthly continuation sessions (5 month total intervention length)		
Follow-up duration	9 months post randomisation; plus consent for long-term follow-up via linkage with routine health data (e.g. the SAIL databank, NHS Digital)		
Planned trial period	April 2023 – December 2026 (opening of participant recruitment until the end of follow-up and analysis)		
Primary objective	To evaluate the effectiveness (defined as time to event of a major depressive episode in adolescents) of an inter-generational preventive intervention for adolescents at elevated risk of depression (defined by a history of depression in a parent and either		







	current elevated depressive symptoms (≥16 CES-D) or a history of a major depressive disorder).	
Secondary objectives	To examine the effect of the intervention on the secondary outcomes including depression symptoms, quality of life, anxiety, irritability and developmental competence.	
	An embedded process evaluation will assess recruitment and reach; retention; acceptability; fidelity of intervention delivery; adherence and intervention mechanisms including hypothesised mediators (perceived stress, problem solving, cognitive change, behavioural activation and improvements in the parent-child relationship) and moderators of effect including baseline characteristics of the young people (e.g., comorbidity, age) and parents (e.g., current depression status).	
Primary outcomes	Time to a DSM-5 depression episode occurring in the young person during the 9- month follow up period as defined by the Depression Symptom Rating score.	
Secondary outcomes	At 9-month follow-up: Number of depression free weeks, length of wellness intervals, time to recovery from depressive episodes and time to recurrence of depressive episodes in the 9-month follow up period assessed with the LIFE; Depressive symptoms assessed with the CES- D; anxiety symptoms assessed with the RCADS; irritability symptoms assessed with the ARI; quality of life assessed with the EQ-5D-Y; developmental competency assessed with the Developmental Competence Scale; functional impairment associated with depression assessed with the cGAS; Individual depression risk score (an individual risk algorithm developed at Cardiff University which assesses 3 year risk of depression); service use and treatment assessed with the CSRI. At baseline, 3-month and 9-month follow-up: Data on potential mediators will also be collected – negative self-beliefs assessed with the DAS-C; self-efficacy and problem solving assessed with the GSE; perceived stress assessed with the CBQ, CRPBI, and the child disclosure subscale from the parent monitoring measure.	
Intervention	The SWELL intervention (an adapted online version of "Coping with Stress") – a psychological intervention for prevention of youth depression which is enhanced by additionally optimising treatment of parental depression when parents have high levels of depression symptoms at study entry.	







3 Trial summary & schema









3.2 Trial lay summary

Background

Depression is common in young people and can lead to long-term mental health difficulties. Young people with a depressed parent are at an especially high risk of depression themselves. Therefore, it is important to find ways to intervene early and prevent depressive episodes in this group. A previous study found that a talking intervention for small groups of young people (Coping with Stress) was effective at preventing depressive episodes in young people at risk of depression. However, the intervention was not effective when the young person's parent was currently depressed at the beginning of the study. Depression in adults is nearly always managed in primary care and is sometimes not managed optimally. Therefore, optimising treatment in line with best practice guidelines for parents who are currently depressed alongside the intervention for young people may benefit young people.

Aims

This project aims to test the effectiveness of the SWELL intervention (an adapted version of 'Coping with Stress', delivered online to fit a UK context) in preventing depression in adolescents who have a depressed parent. We will recruit adolescent-parent pairs into the study, and the project aims to optimise treatment for the parent when they are depressed at the start of the study. The project also looks at other outcomes in the young person like functioning, to see what factors might lead to improvement and how certain factors, such as the parent being depressed at the start of the study, might change how well the intervention works for the young people. We will also test how the study works both through participants completing questionnaires but also by asking those who complete and deliver the interventions what helped and what could be improved.

Design/methods

This project is a randomised controlled trial. We will recruit young people with a history of depression in a parent and who have either current elevated depressive symptoms or a past history of depression (but who do not currently have a diagnosis of depression – because treatment would be most appropriate for those young people). These young people will be recruited from existing patient cohorts/ databanks (e.g. National Centre for Mental Health, GLAD, South London and

21





The Wolfson* Foundation



Maudsley Clinical Record Interactive Service (CRIS), Secure Anonymised Information Linkage databank (SAIL)), from primary care centres, employee support and well- being services, schools, social media and via advertisements and study leaflets in a range of health and community settings using in-person and online methods. Before the intervention begins, the young person's parent will be assessed for current depression. When their parent is not currently depressed (as confirmed by a depression screening measure), the young person will be immediately randomised. When the parent is currently depressed, they will be offered the opportunity to enter a 12-week period during which their depression treatment is optimised. Treatment optimisation will be carried out as part of a University-led treatment programme, run by NHS psychiatrists. At the end of this 12-week parent treatment period, the young person will be randomised regardless of whether their parent's depression symptoms have improved (PHQ-9 score < 10 at baseline) or not. If the parent does remain depressed they will be directed to the usual NHS treatment pathway via their GP. If the parent is unable to complete the 12-week treatment optimization, the young person and parent will be able to continue the study and the young person will be randomised. Up to 400 young people will be assigned randomly to receive the intervention plus usual care or to continue with usual care only. The young person and their parent will participate in online assessments about their mental health at the start of the study prior to randomisation and again after 3 and 9 months post-randomisation.

4 Background

Depression is a leading cause of disability worldwide (WHO, 2008) and is associated with poor longterm outcomes including social and educational impairments, self-harm and suicide (Thapar et al, 2012; Johnson et al., 2018; Claybourne et al., 2019). The rate of depression increases during adolescence, and depression at this time can mark the beginning of long-term mental health problems (Thapar et al. 2012). Therefore, early intervention and prevention of adolescent depression is a major public health concern (Department of Health, 2009).

One of the most common, potent risk factors for depression is having a parent with depression. Those with a depressed parent are 3-4 times more likely to develop depression themselves (Rice, et al., 2002). Young people of depressed parents are a high-risk group who could benefit from prevention or early intervention. Evidence exists that interventions for depression prevention are





The Wolfson* Foundation



effective, particularly when used in targeted populations, including in young people of depressed parents (Rasing et al., 2017; Hetrick et al., 2015, Munoz et al., 2012; Havinga et al., 2021), with many of these interventions using cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT) approaches (Hetrick et al., 2015; Havinga et al., 2021).

One particular cognitive behavioral intervention that has shown promise in preventing depression in adolescents at high risk is the Coping with Stress (CwS) program (Garber et al., 2009). The CwS program is a group-based cognitive behavioral intervention for the prevention of unipolar depression. It has been found to be effective in preventing the onset of depression in young people at increased risk of depression (those with a parental history of depression and a history of depression and/or elevated subthreshold depression symptoms themselves) (Garber et al., 2009). Interestingly, the same study found that current depression in parents moderated the intervention effects. The CwS intervention was not more effective than usual care in preventing depression for young people whose parents were currently depressed (Garber et al., 2009). These results are consistent with findings of previous intervention studies that have shown that parental depression reduces effectiveness of CBT interventions for depression in young people (Brent et al., 1998; Lewinsohn et al., 1998). Therefore, identifying and treating parental depression may be important to maximize the likelihood of such interventions preventing depression in their children. Remission of depression in mothers has been associated with a decrease in psychiatric symptoms and improved functioning in offspring (Pilowsky et al., 2008; Cuijpers et al., 2015). However, research directly testing effectiveness of interventions for depression prevention in young people when concurrent parental depression is treated, is lacking.

In addition to identifying whether the intervention is effective, exploration of underlying mechanistic and contextual factors can help determine which intervention components work best, for whom, and in which circumstances. Research into the mechanisms underlying the successful prevention of depression, however, is lacking. A recent systematic review of mediators of interventions for the prevention of depression and anxiety, evaluated cognitive, behavioural, emotional, and interpersonal mediators (Moreno-Peral et al., 2020). These included negative thoughts, attributional style, self-esteem, self-efficacy, perceived stress, problem solving skills, social skills, social support, and behavioural activation. Results showed that in adults, cognitive change may be an important

23





The Wolfson* Foundation



mechanism for the prevention of depression, with negative thinking being the mediator with the strongest support. In children and adolescents, however, there was insufficient evidence for any of the mediators examined.

The current study

The current study was designed to test the effectiveness of the SWELL trial intervention - an adapted CwS intervention - in young people at risk of depression. Adaptations were made with input from the trial team, the trial management group (TMG), the intervention developers, clinicians, and young people. The primary adaptation is that parents who are currently depressed will receive treatment, prior to their child entering into the trial. This adaptation was intended to maximize the effectiveness of the intervention for young person. We also adapted the CwS intervention so that it could be delivered online. Online delivery of psychological interventions not only can benefit those reluctant to use face to face interventions, but it also allows interventions to be more widely available to those who may otherwise be unable to access them. There is evidence that online psychological interventions are as effective as face to face interventions especially when facilitated by a therapist (Buntrock et al., 2016). We also made minor updates to the visual and written materials that were included in the original CwS workbook. This included the use of more contemporary comic strips to illustrate key learning points. We also translated the YP workbook into Welsh to create a bilingual resource (although all intervention groups will be delivered in English during the planned trial). We called the intervention Skills for Adolescent WELLbeing (SWELL).

The study also will explore possible mechanisms through which the intervention may work. The SWELL intervention is a psycho-educational, cognitive-behavioral intervention that focuses on training adolescents in cognitive-restructuring skills and techniques for modifying negative self-statements (Clarke, 2003). It strengthens current coping techniques and teaches new coping strategies (Clarke et al., 2003). Therefore, we will examine possible mediators of the intervention such as problem-solving skills, perceived stress, self-efficacy, and unrealistic negative thinking, all of which the intervention works to improve, and thereby may protect against developing depression (Clarke et al., 2003). Improvement in the parent-child relationship is another potential mechanism through which the intervention may have beneficial effects on young people's depression, and we





The Wolfson* Foundation



will explore this in the current study.

Aims

The primary aim is to test the effectiveness of the SWELL intervention which is an adapted from the 'Coping with Stress' intervention in adolescents at risk of depression and includes optimising the treatment of parental depression prior to intervention delivery. A nested process evaluation will assess recruitment and reach, retention, fidelity, adherence, acceptability, influence of potential underlying mechanisms and context (please see the logic model that has been developed for this trial in Figure 1), and will assess the impact of adaptations on effectiveness and implementation. We will also assess factors that may modify the effectiveness of the intervention including baseline characteristics of the young people (e.g., comorbidity) and parents (e.g., current depression status).

4.1 Rationale for Current Trial/Justification of Treatment Options

The rationale for the current trial is detailed in the "Background" section of this protocol. As described, the trial will be informed by the previous in-person RCT study of the Coping with Stress intervention that was conducted in the US (Garber et al., 2009), but adapted to include parent depression treatment optimisation, and to be delivered online in a UK context.







Figure 1: Logic Model of SWELL intervention on depression, mental health and functioning in the young person

INPUTS

Therapists:

Trained in SWELL intervention & supervised by experienced clinician.

Psychiatrists:

Assess, treat & make medication recommendations to optimise parent depression treatment.

Virtual platform and equipment: For implementation of intervention.

Parent(s): Screened for depression at start of trial (PHQ-9). For those with high depression symptoms:

ACTIVITIES/ INTERVENTION

Parents' depression treatment optimised (as per NICE guidelines).

Young People: SWELL CBT intervention. 8 x 60-minute weekly group sessions and 3 x 60-minute monthly group follow up sessions. Intervention will:

- Provide psychoeducation on stress and depression.
- Teach mood monitoring & goal setting.
- Identify negative & unrealistic thoughts, learn techniques to stop negative thoughts, & encourage more realistic thinking.
- Develop current and new problem-solving strategies: deal with stressful situations.
- Learn about behavioural activation & relaxation as strategies for dealing with low mood & stressful situations.

MEDIATORS OF CHANGE

- Cognitive change Reduced unrealistic negative thoughts (DAS-C); Improved ability to cope with stress (PSS);
 Improved self-efficacy and problemsolving (GSE)
- Behavioural activation (BADS-SF)
- Improved interpersonal relationships (e.g. improved parent-child relationship (CBQ, CRPBI)
- Reduction in known clinical antecedents of depression (e.g., anxiety and irritability (*RCADS*, *ARI*))
- Reduction in stigma about depression (to be explored in qualitative interviews/focus groups as part of the nested process evaluation)

OUTCOMES

9 months:

- Rates of depression diagnosis (LIFE interview)
- Depression symptom score (CES-D /RCADS)
- Depression risk score (3-year risk of developing depression)
- Anxiety symptoms (RCADS)
- Irritability symptoms (ARI)
- Quality of life (EQ-5D-Y)
- Developmental competency (Developmental competence scale)
- Functional impairment (cGAS)
- We hypothesise that some of the putative mediators (i.e., DASC and GSE) may also act as secondary outcomes

Contextual factors	Support from parents/family	Facilitators and barriers
Availability of private space to complete	Shared experiences of parents and young person	Stressors (e.g. school, family, economic), change in
the intervention	completing intervention & assessments	parental depression, comorbidities, new service use

Footnote to Figure 1: *PHQ-9* = Patient Health Questionnaire-9; *DAS-C* = Dysfunctional Attitudes Scale for Children; *PSS* = Perceived Stress Scale; *GSE* = Generalised Self Efficacy Scale; *BADS-SF* = Behavioural Activation for Depression Scale- short Form; *CBQ*=Conflict behaviour questionnaire; *CRPBS* = Child Report of parent's behaviour scale; *RCADS* = Revised Children's Anxiety and Depression Scale; *ARI* = Affective Reactivity Index; *LIFE* = Longitudinal Interval Follow-Up Evaluation, *CES-D* = Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale; *cGAS* = Children's Global Assessment Scale (cGAS). Family stigma in addition to the other mediators of change will be explored in the qualitative interviews/focus groups. Note: stigma about depression will be assessed in qualitative interviews only.





The Wolfson* Foundation



The research plan has been developed in consultation with the trial management group (TMG), who have clinical and research experience of adolescent depression and of evaluating mental health interventions for young people. The Wolfson Centre Young Person Advisory Group (YPAG) of 12 young people with lived experienced of depression/anxiety have also contributed feedback on our study protocol development during 3 meetings (2 online, 1 hybrid), and a smaller group meeting on 1 additional occasion. The YPAG advised on: the name SWELL, assessments used, timings of intervention and assessments, and the adaptation of the intervention (workbook content including language and visuals, online methods for delivery). One young person and a parent with experience of depression are members of the independent trial steering committee (TSC). The Chief Investigator (CI) is Professor of Developmental Psychopathology with research expertise in longitudinal studies, child and adolescent psychopathology and is a leading authority on adolescent depression. She is lead investigator on a large longitudinal study of the adolescent children of parents with depression.

This work will be conducted by a team based at the Wolfson Centre for Young People's Mental Health in collaboration with the Centre for Trials Research (CTR). We will also collaborate with the intervention development stream of the National Centre for Mental Health (NCMH). The project has been adopted by the Centre for the Development and Evaluation of Complex Interventions for Public Health Improvement (DECIPHer). The experiences of young people and parents affected by depression fed into the development of the grant that funded this project – when asked what their priorities were for research in this area, they identified prevention and early intervention as their main priority for future research.

The research team have met regularly as a TMG to discuss the planning of the trial and will continue to do so over the course of the trial. A Trial Steering Committee (TSC) will be assembled (see section 21.2), who will advise on aspects of trial design.







5 Trial Objectives/Endpoints & Outcomes

5.1 Primary objective

To evaluate the effectiveness of the SWELL intervention for prevention of depression in young people with a parent with a history of depression and a history of depression themselves or currently elevated depression symptoms.

5.2 Secondary objectives

To examine the effect of the SWELL intervention on the secondary outcomes (e.g. quality of life, anxiety, irritability, functional impairment). A process evaluation will assess recruitment and reach, retention, fidelity, adherence, acceptability, influence of potential underlying mechanisms and context. The process evaluation will also focus on assessing the impact of adaptations on effectiveness and implementation and possible intervention mechanisms. Hypothesised mediators of effectiveness of the intervention include problem solving skills and quality of the parent-child relationship. Potential moderators include baseline characteristics of the young people (e.g., comorbidity) and parents (e.g., current depression status).

5.3 Primary outcome

The primary outcome is defined as time in weeks to a probable DSM-5 depression episode in the young person during the 9-month post-randomisation follow-up period. Specifically, we will collect information on when any depressive episodes occur during the follow-up period as the primary outcome, consistent with a time-to-event analysis approach. This will be measured using at the 9-month follow-up assessment using a validated research diagnostic interview for depressive episodes similar to the life history calendar approach – the longitudinal interval follow-up evaluation (LIFE; Keller et al., 1987). The LIFE measure involves the interviewer completing at follow-up a detailed assessment that allows the interviewer to ascertain the level of depressive symptoms over the entire follow-up period by tracking the onset and offset of symptoms. This allows the derivation of a depressive symptom rating for each week of follow-up. This is used to define depressive disorder with a probable depressive episode (Garber et al., 2009) defined as a depression symptom rating scale score of 4 or more for at least 2 weeks. The LIFE provides enough detail to date individual







depressive symptoms and episodes, and allows calculation of time to recovery, length of wellness intervals and time to recurrence (Keller et al., 1987).

5.4 Secondary outcomes

The secondary outcomes measured at 9-months post-randomisation include: number of depression free weeks, length of wellness intervals, time to recovery from depressive episodes and time to recurrence of depressive episodes in the 9-month follow-up period (assessed with the LIFE); depression symptom score (assessed with the Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale; CES-D; Radloff, 1991), young person's depression risk score (a risk score tool developed by colleagues at Cardiff University that will assess individuals' 3-year risk of developing depression; Stephens et al., 2022), anxiety symptoms (assessed with RCADS), irritability symptoms (assessed with ARI), quality of life (assessed with EQ-5D-Y), developmental competence (assessed with developmental competence scale), functional impairment (assessed using cGAS), and Service use and treatment (assessed with CSRI) which may also act as a covariate.

Data on potential mediators will also be collected via online questionnaire at baseline, 3 and 9months post-randomisation follow-up. The potential mediators to be investigated are negative selfbeliefs, self-efficacy and problem solving, perceived stress, behavioral activation and interpersonal relationships. Mediator data will be collected at all three timepoints to allow for exploratory analysis of change in the mediators over time, including checking the temporal ordering of exposure, mediator and outcome, which will be important given the strong within time correlations that are likely to be observed between the mediators and the outcome. It is possible that certain hypothesized mediators, such as those relating to changes in mindset including dysfunctional attitudes and self-efficacy, may act as both mediators and secondary outcomes. Those that show evidence of change at 3 months (which is either maintained at final follow-up or not) will be included in the mediation analysis and those that show change at final follow-up but not at 3 months will be treated as secondary outcomes.

Data on potential moderators will be collected via online questionnaire at baseline. The potential moderators to be investigated are baseline characteristics of the young people (e.g., comorbidity) and parents (e.g., current depression status).









More detail on all measures that will be used is provided in section 12.

6. Trial design and setting

This is a two-arm time-to-event randomised controlled effectiveness trial comparing the SWELL intervention plus usual care to usual care only. A nested process evaluation will investigate how the intervention and its implementation work, particularly for new elements of the intervention i.e. including the treatment of currently depressed parents prior to randomisation of the young people and the delivery of the intervention in an online setting. A health economic analysis is not currently included but data will be collected on service use (via the CSRI) to allow one to be completed in the future if funding is available.

We will recruit up to 400 young people and their parent/carer. Recruitment will be via a range of routes including: existing cohorts of adults with depression (e.g. the NCMH cohort based in Wales, the GLAD cohort based in the UK), from databanks (e.g. CRIS, SAIL), from primary care centres (GPs, primary mental health care), schools and employee wellbeing services in the UK and via social media. We will advertise the study via leaflets/flyers/postcards in a range of health and community settings using in-person and online methods (e.g. waiting rooms, mental health charity groups, community centres, pharmacies, primary and secondary care settings, school in-reach services etc).

Procedure (see flow diagram, section 3.1):

After both the parent and young person have completed the online screening measures, provided consent to participate in the study and the parent has completed the PHQ-9 questionnaire, if the parent and young person meet all inclusion/exclusion criteria <u>and the parent is not currently</u> <u>depressed (defined as PH-9 score <10)</u>, baseline data will be collected and then the young person will be randomised. They will be allocated to either i) the SWELL intervention plus usual care, OR ii) usual care alone. Participants will be randomised 1:1 via random permuted block randomised into the intervention arm of the study, the intervention will start once a minimum of 6 young people are randomised, as we aim for CBT intervention groups to have 6-8 young people each. If recruitment is slow, we will wait up to 1 month to randomise 6 young people, before we start a CBT group that is





The Wolfson* Foundation



smaller than 6. Previous research (Garber et al., 2009) shows that it is feasible to run the intervention with groups as small as 3 if recruitment is slow.

If the parent and young person meet all inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria <u>but the</u> <u>parent is currently depressed at the screening stage</u> (defined as PHQ-9 score \geq 10), the parent will first be offered 12-weeks of treatment optimisation, before baseline data collection and randomisation. For ethical and pragmatic reasons, if the parent does not want to/is unable to/does not adhere to the treatment optimisation, this will be noted and baseline data will be collected and the young person randomised.

Parent depression treatment optimisation

The treatment optimisation team will consist of psychiatrists and psychology assistants and will be overseen by a consultant trial psychiatrist. When a parent scores ≥10 on the PHQ-9 questionnaire at the start of the study, the treatment optimisation team will be informed. Following parent agreement to participate in treatment optimisation, one of the team will then contact the currently depressed parent for a consultation aiming to optimise their depression treatment. This will take an evidence-based approach and work within clinical guidance, including NICE clinical guideline [CG90] 'Depression in adults: recognition and management'. The steps to this screening and optimisation process are outlined below, though these may vary according to the needs of the individual as assessed by the psychiatrist:

- 1) Screening: PHQ-9 depression screen score is greater than or equal to 10 at screening stage
- 2) Assessment: Parent is assessed by the psychiatrist in a 1-hour consultation conducted either via video call, phone call or face to face in a clinic
- Psychoeducation: Brief psychoeducation and advice will be delivered by the psychiatrist at the end of the initial consultation
- 4) Initiation of online CBT: psychiatrist signposts the parent to the 8-module 'Space from Depression' / 'Space from Depression and Anxiety' programme on SilverCloud platform (<u>https://pthb.nhs.wales/services/adult-and-older-peoples-mental-health-</u> <u>services/silvercloud-online-cbt/</u>). (Richards et al. 2020; Eilert et al. 2021). They will be advised by the psychiatrist to complete one module (roughly 1 hour each in length) per





The Wolfson* Foundation



week, as recommended by Richards et al.(2018). Additional support will be available from the SilverCloud support team, including technical support, fortnightly feedback on programme progress, and the ability to open additional modules that may be helpful once the 8 core modules are complete. In situations where the SilverCloud programme cannot be accessed, alternatives will be considered.

- 5) Medication review: psychiatrist to review the parent's medication history and make recommendations to the GP regarding the medication and other aspects of the management as required.
- 6) Regular follow-up: According to the needs of the individual as assessed by the psychiatrist, either the psychiatrist or a psychology assistant checks in with parent once every 2 weeks for approximately 30 minutes via video call, phone call or in person to check on their progress and provide iCBT guidance, over the 12-week period. At each check-in parents will complete a PHQ-9 questionnaire to assess their current depressive symptoms.

Whether the parent recovers (PHQ-9 score <10 at baseline assessment) by the end of the treatment optimisation period or not, baseline assessments will be completed (within 3 weeks of the end of the treatment optimisation period), followed by randomisation of the young person to the intervention plus usual care or to the usual care only group. Participants will be randomised regardless of the number of parent treatment optimisation sessions attended. Parental recovered or non-recovered status at the end of the treatment optimisation phase will be used in exploratory subgroup analyses, including whether the recovery status of the parent modifies any effects of the intervention.

Each young person in the intervention arm will be assigned to an online therapy group (6 to 8 young people led by a therapist) that will meet weekly for the first 8 weeks during the acute phase of the intervention, which will then be followed by 3 monthly group continuation sessions. Detailed information on the intervention and usual care arms of the study are provided in section 11.

Data Collection

Online questionnaire assessments completed in REDCap by both parent and young person separately will be used to assess parent current and prior mood disorders and other psychiatric





The Wolfson* Foundation



diagnoses, and young person psychiatric diagnoses, depression history and depressive symptoms at the screening stage.

For parents found to be depressed following the screening stage, who have their depression treatment optimised, PHQ-9 data will be collected every 2 weeks for the 12-week duration of the treatment optimisation. Adherence to the treatment plan will be captured at the end of the 12-week treatment optimisation phase.

Young people and parents/carers will participate in separate online assessments at baseline, 3 months and 9 months. At the 9-month follow-up, the young person's depressive symptoms and episodes will be assessed. Additional data on potential mediators (negative self-beliefs, self-efficacy and problem solving, perceived stress, behavioral activation and interpersonal relationships) will be collected via online questionnaire at baseline, 3 and 9 months post-randomisation follow-up (where assessments will be kept as short as possible) to allow for exploratory analysis of change in the mediators over time, including checking the temporal ordering of exposure, mediator and outcome. Online questionnaires will be completed as close as possible to the scheduled follow-up periods (i.e. 3 months and 9 months), but within at least 4 weeks of participants receiving them. Assessments with parents and young person (at baseline and 9 months) will be completed on the same day where possible, or as close together as is feasible. At a minimum the study team will aim to have parent and young person assessments completed within 4 weeks of each other.

Qualitative data will be collected via interview and/or focus groups with a subsample of young people, parents and professionals separately to assess their experiences of participating in the trial, which will form a part of a process evaluation assessing how the intervention works. The subsamples will be selected to be representative of different groups in the trial, for example, young people whose parents were depressed at baseline and not depressed, whose parents did and did not recover following treatment optimisation, young people from different intervention therapy groups, young people in the usual care only arm, young people in the intervention arm with differing patterns of depression over the study period (i.e. those who (1) stayed well, (2) improved and stayed well, (3) improved and then relapsed, and (4) did not improve), and participants with different levels of engagement with the study. As recruitment of participants into the study will take place over several months, the qualitative focus groups/interviews will be staggered across three different time

33







points in the study to allow collection of qualitative data from participants completing the trial early on in the study, in the middle stages, and in the late stages of the study period.

6.1 Risk assessment

A Trial Risk Assessment has been completed to identify the potential hazards associated with the trial and to assess the likelihood of those hazards occurring and resulting in harm. This risk assessment has been completed in accordance with the MRC/DH/MHRA Joint project guidance document 'Riskadapted approaches to the management of Clinical Trials of Investigational Medicinal Products' and includes:

- The known and potential risks and benefits to human participants
- How high the risk is compared to normal standard practice
- How the risk will be minimised/managed

This trial has been categorised as a LOW RISK, where the level of risk is no higher than the risk of standard medical care. A copy of the trial risk assessment may be requested from the CTR. The trial risk assessment is used to determine the intensity and focus of monitoring activity.

7 Site and Investigator Selection

Recruitment of participants to the trial will be carried out via the NHS and via other routes (see section 9.1). This section outlines the process by which an NHS health board will be set up as a study site (Note, not all recruitment avenues will be set up as NHS sites (e.g. GP practices will be set up as participant identification centres and non-NHS recruitment routes will also be utilised; see section 9.1). This trial will be carried out at NHS sites in the UK including, Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board, Cardiff & Vale University Health Board, Aneurin Bevan University Health Board, and Swansea Bay University Health Board. Additional Health Boards will be approached as required. Staff from the Research and Development Office at each University Health Board will work alongside Cardiff University researchers to support recruitment (e.g. by liaising with GP surgeries and primary mental health practitioners)







The study will follow standard procedures in setting up NHS trusts as study sites. All interested NHS sites will be required to confirm that they have adequate resources and experience to conduct the trial.

Before any NHS site can begin recruitment a Principal Investigator (PI) at each site must be identified. The following documents would usually be in place and copies sent to the Trial email account:

- The confirmation of Capability & Capacity from the site's R&D Department following sharing of local information pack
- > Favourable opinion of host care organisation/PI from Main Ethics committee
- > A signed Trial Agreement
- > Current Curriculum Vitae (CV) and GCP training certificate of the PI
- > Completed Site Delegation Log and Roles and Responsibilities document

Full contact details for all host care organisation personnel involved, indicating preferred contactThe trial team will provide the NHS site with:

- A copy of the most recent approved version of the Participant Information Sheet(s) and Consent Form(s)
- > A copy of the most recent approved GP letter

Upon receipt of all the above documents, the Trial Manager will send written confirmation to the PI detailing that the centre is now ready to recruit participants into the trial. This letter/email must be filed in each site's Site File. Along with the written confirmation, the site should receive anything relating to trial intervention and a trial pack holding all the documents required to recruit into the Trial.

Occasionally during the trial, amendments may be made to the trial documentation listed above. The CTR will issue the site with the latest version of the documents as soon as they become available. It is the responsibility of the CTR to ensure that they obtain local R&D approval for the new documents. Site initiation will be by in-person or online meeting.

8 Participant selection

Participants are eligible for the trial if they meet all of the following inclusion criteria and none of the exclusion criteria apply. All queries about participant eligibility should be directed to the CI before







randomisation/registration. For more detail on how the inclusion/exclusion criteria will be measured, please see section 9.

8.1 Inclusion criteria for trial

- Adolescents aged 13-19 years.
- Experiencing current elevated depressive symptoms (CES-D score≥16), and/or has a history of depression. However, we specify that young people should not have a current diagnosis of depression (because signposting to treatment would be more appropriate for this group).
- Living (at least some of the time) with a parent/carer (biological or non-biological) who has a
 history of unipolar depression who is willing to consider engaging with a depression treatment
 plan. If the parent has two or more children aged 13-19 who are eligible and willing to
 participate, the eldest will be selected to participate. If both parents have a history of unipolar
 depression, the primary caregiver will be selected to participate, or whichever parent is willing
 and able to engage with a depression treatment plan.
- Both young person and parent have access to the internet via a desktop/laptop/phone/tablet and have a valid email address and mobile phone number.
- Both young person and parent have the ability to complete trial activities as specified in the protocol, e.g., ability to communicate in English, absence of learning disability that would impair ability to participate, and for the young person, ability to participate in small group therapy sessions.

8.2 Exclusion criteria for trial

- Young person already receiving specialist treatment for depression (e.g. currently on antidepressants or receiving cognitive behavioral therapy (CBT)).
- Young person has a current diagnosis of depression, made by a doctor.
- Young person has been told by a doctor or healthcare professional that they have a diagnosis
 of bipolar disorder, schizophrenia, psychosis, eating disorder or alcohol/drug dependence or
 have generalized learning difficulties, that the parent judges would prevent them from
 participating in trial activities.






- Parent has been told by a doctor or healthcare professional that they have a diagnosis of bipolar disorder, schizophrenia or personality disorder.
- Parent is receiving treatment from secondary mental health services (e.g. community mental health team or psychiatrist).
- Parent or young person are not resident in the UK.

8.3 Inclusion criteria for professionals working on the trial who participate in qualitative interviews and/or focus groups

Professional works on the trial as a therapist leading the young person CBT groups, or as a trial
psychiatrist optimising parent depression treatment as part of the parent treatment
optimisation phase.

9 Recruitment, screening and registration

9.1 Participant identification

The recruitment process is summarised in the flow charts shown in Section 9.2. The first avenue of recruitment will be via existing cohorts of adults with depression who have agreed to receive information about research studies (e.g. the NCMH cohort). Additional recruitment will be conducted via General Practices (GPs), primary mental health (PMH) services, schools and employee support and well-being services in the UK. GP practices and PMH services will recruit from Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board, Cardiff & Vale University Health Board, Aneurin Bevan University Health Board, Swansea Bay University Health Board and other health boards in the UK, if required. Participants will also be recruited through online advertising. We will also advertise the study via leaflets/flyers/postcards in a range of health and community settings using in-person and online methods (e.g. waiting rooms, mental health charity groups, community centres, pharmacies, primary and secondary care settings, school in-reach services etc).

We will receive support from NCMH and staff from the Research and Development Office at each University Health Board, who have extensive experience of recruiting young people into trials.





The Wolfson* Foundation



Recruiting through NCMH: Participants in the NCMH cohort who potentially meet study inclusion criteria (participants who have a form of contact information available, have a history of depression and a child aged 13-19) and who have consented to be contacted for future research will be identified by the NCMH team via the NCMH database. They will be contacted by NCMH researchers by email and/or letter to ask whether they would be interested in taking part in the study. Included in the email/letter will be a link to further information about the study, a link to an expression of interest form, and the contact details of the study team. Potential participants who are interested in taking part will be asked to get in touch with the study team directly via the expression of interest form or by using the study team contact details provided. We are currently seeking approval to recruit via an additional existing research cohort – the GLAD study (https://gladstudy.org.uk/) – which is an NIHR bioresource for studies about depression and anxiety. We also plan on seeking approval to record-interactive-search-cris/) and SAIL databank (https://popdatasci.swan.ac.uk/centres-of-excellence/sail/). We will use a similar process to identify potential participants if the recruitment is approved by the appropriate governance teams.

Upon completion of the online study expression of interest form by the potential participant, the study team will email the potential participant the study information sheets and a link to allow them to book a phone/video call to discuss the study further, providing an opportunity for them to ask questions, and to complete screening questions to check for eligibility. Once the screening phone/video call with the parent is complete, the young person will also be given the opportunity to discuss the study with a researcher, before completing their own screening questionnaire (CES-D questionnaire) with the researcher over the telephone. In instances where the parent-child dyad are clearly ineligible based on the parent screening phone call, the young person will not be asked to complete the CES-D questionnaire. Following completion of the screening phone/video call, the study team will check and confirm the parent-child dyad's eligibility to participate and will send the parent an email to communicate whether or not they are eligible. Where the dyad are not currently eligible, but there is a possibility they may become eligible with time (e.g. young person has no history of depression and no current subthreshold symptoms, but may develop subthreshold depression symptoms) permission will also be obtained to recontact the family in the future to check if their eligibility status has changed.

38





The Wolfson* Foundation



Where the dyad are eligible, the researcher will take informed consent or assent with the parent and young person over the phone/video call. Once the parent consent has been obtained, the parent will complete the PHQ-9 questionnaire with the researcher whilst still on the telephone/videocall (all questionnaires completed whilst on the telephone will be entered online by the researcher). Assent/consent forms will also include an opportunity for participants to agree to potentially participating in qualitative interviews and/or focus groups, though only a subsample of participants will be selected during the trial to participate in this qualitative data collection. Young people who are less than 16 years of age on entry to the study (i.e have completed an assent form) will be reconsented if they turn 16 during the course of the study. The research team will aim to do this at the next planned point of contact (e.g. baseline or 9-month follow-up interviews). If amendments are made to consent forms during the course of the study, that require participants to reconsent, the research team will also aim to do this at the next planned point of contact. Only research team members will be involved in the process of screening participants and taking consent. The role of NCMH staff is to help with identification of eligible participants only.

Recruiting through general practice (GP): Health & Care Research Wales (HCRW), local NHS R&D teams and/or NIHR Clinical Research Network (CRN) teams (including Buckinghamshire, Oxfordshire and Berkshire west (BOB) integrated care board, the East Midlands CRN, North West Coast CRN, South London CRN and South London RDN) with links to primary care will support recruitment through GP practices. Where NHS R&D teams' resources are limited, with the necessary approvals in place, research staff from the study team will provide additional support with recruitment at the GP PIC site where possible. GP practices in the UK will be contacted to ask if they are willing to be involved in recruitment into the study. They will receive information about the study, and details about how to get in touch with the study team. GP practices that agree to support the study recruitment will be set up as NHS participation identification centres (PICs) following standard procedures. They will work alongside the research team and/or local R&D teams to identify eligible participants using the GP electronic records system. The study team can provide pre-developed searches for the Vision, EMIS and SystmOne GP database systems that GP practices can use to identify potentially eligible participants. Eligible participants (history of depression and a child aged 13-19) will be contacted by letter or text with further information about the study, a link to an

39





The Wolfson* Foundation



expression of interest form and the contact details of the study team (including email and telephone number). A reminder text will then be sent 2-4 weeks later. Those who are interested in taking part will be asked to complete the online expression of interest form or to get in touch with the study team directly. Once the study expression of interest form has been completed by a potential participant, the study team will contact them via the telephone/video-call to discuss the study further and provide an opportunity for them to ask questions. The process of screening and consent described above (under recruiting through NCMH participants) will be followed. Members of the local R&D team will be provided with study-specific training and may also be involved in the process of screening participants and taking consent.

Recruiting through primary mental health teams: Local NHS R&D Teams will work with primary mental health service (PMHS) staff to identify eligible participants attending their clinics. PMHS staff will approach potential participants about the study and give them further information, including the link to the study expression of interest form and the contact details of the study team (including email and telephone number). Once the study expression of interest form has been completed by a potential participant, the study team will contact them via the telephone/video-call to discuss the study further and provide an opportunity for them to ask questions. The process of screening and consent described above (under recruiting through NCMH participants) will be followed. There is one exception to this process in Aneurin Bevan UHB Primary CAMHS team. They will support recruitment to the SWELL study in the following way: (1) the PCAMHS team will identify all young people on their waiting list who may be eligible for the SWELL study, (2) the PCAMHS team will phone them to discuss the SWELL study with them, (3) if the family are interested in taking part the PCAMHS team will pass their contact details to the SWELL study team (with their consent to pass on these details), (4) SWELL study team will phone potential participants to organise a screening call, (5) SWELL study researchers will let the PCAMHS team know the outcome of their involvement in the SWELL study (e.g. if they are eligible or not, or if they are allocated to the intervention or not).

Recruiting through schools / educational institutions: Young people and their parents will be recruited through secondary schools, colleges, and universities in the UK. Schools will be asked to contact parents via their usual route of communication (e.g., text message or email) to ask whether they would be interested in taking part in the study. Included in the text/email will be a link to





The Wolfson* Foundation



further information about the study and a link to an expression of interest form for parents to complete. Secondly, schools will be asked to promote the study via newsletters and social media channels. In colleges/universities, the study will be advertised to young people aged 16 and over directly. The materials used to promote the study will include a link to further information about the study and a link to an expression of interest form for potential participants to complete. Once the expression of interest form has been completed, the study team will email the parent the study information sheets and a link to allow them to book a phone/video call for them and their child to discuss the study further, providing an opportunity for them to ask questions, and to complete screening questions to check for eligibility. The process of screening and consent described above (under recruiting through NCMH participants) will be followed.

Recruiting through employee support and wellbeing services: The study will be advertised through wellbeing services in the UK (e.g., Canopi- a service supporting NHS and social care staff across Wales). Additional employee support and wellbeing services will be contacted to ask if they may be able to support recruitment in a similar way. Staff working in these services will approach potential parent participants about the study. Those who are interested in taking part will be asked to complete the study expression of interest form or to get in touch with the study team directly. Once the study expression of interest form has been completed, the study team will contact the potential participant via the telephone/video-call to discuss the study further and provide an opportunity for them to ask questions. The process of screening and consent described above (under recruiting through NCMH participants) will be followed.

For the trial professionals participating in qualitative interviews and/or focus groups, professionals will be provided with an information sheet and consent form once they have started working on the trial, giving them the opportunity to provide consent to participate in qualitative interviews and/or focus groups with other professionals to provide feedback on their experience of running the young person CBT groups or optimising parent depression treatment.

All researchers involved in discussing the study with potential participants, completing screening questionnaires and taking consent will be trained in how to talk to families about research and how to take consent in clinical research. This training will be documented on trial and/or site-specific







training logs which the CTR trial team will monitor throughout the trial.







9.2 Recruitment flow charts ROUTE 1: Recruiting from existing cohorts e.g. National Centre for Mental Health (NCMH)



If family meet inclusion criteria recruit into study







ROUTE 2: Recruiting through General Practice/Primary Care









ROUTE 3: Recruiting through Primary Mental Health Services

Local NHS R&D team and Cardiff University Researchers to work with primary mental health service (PMHS) staff to identify eligible participants attending their clinics. Eligible = history of depression and child aged 13-19 years.

PMHS staff to approach potential participants about the study, provide information about the study (e.g. information sheets) and how to get in touch with study team if interested (including website, email, telephone number). A link to an online form to register interest in taking part will also be included. They may also ask permission for NHS R&D team or Cardiff University researchers to contact them to discuss the study further.

Family gets in touch (via website, email, telephone, or reply card, online form) saying they are interested in participating OR NHS R&D team or Cardiff University researchers contact potential participant to discuss the study, and provide information (e.g. Information sheets).



Online screening questionnaires to be completed, to ensure inclusion criteria met- as per **ROUTE 1** diagram above.

If family meet inclusion criteria recruit into study









ROUTE 4: Recruiting through schools / educational institutions









9.3 Screening logs

We will keep a record of how much information has been distributed about the study and through which source (e.g. GP, primary mental health team or NCMH). We will ask GP practices to let us know how many potentially eligible participants have been contacted. We will keep a record of the numbers of eligible and ineligible participants who complete the expression of interest form and how they heard about the study including their GP practice. For health boards where NHS R&D staff are actively involved in consenting potential study participants, we will ask practitioners at each centre to keep a screening log to monitor recruitment. When at site, these screening logs may contain identifiable information, but this must be redacted prior to being sent to the CTR (see section 22 for further detail on data monitoring/quality assurance).

9.4 Recruitment rates

Initially recruitment will be conducted primarily from NCMH. This sample includes approximately 1000 participants who appear to meet the eligibility criteria (have a history of depression and a child aged 13-19), who have agreed to be contacted to be invited to take part in research studies, and have good quality contact details (i.e., more than one form of contact available from email, post and phone number). We will additionally aim to recruit via PMH centres locally (e.g., in the Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board and Cardiff and Vale University Health Board), with the possibility of extending this to other local health boards if needed in the later stages of recruitment. Participants will also be recruited through primary care, schools, employee support and wellbeing services and online and inperson (e.g. posters, leaflets) advertising. Rates of recruitment will be closely monitored so that periods of slower than expected recruitment can be identified quickly and actions be put in place to improve recruitment rates.

9.5 Informed consent

The participant's informed consent must be obtained using the trial consent forms on the basis of the information presented in the participant information sheets, which have been produced for the young people and parents/guardians. Online versions of the consent and assent forms have been developed on REDCap. These forms will be discussed in detail with potential participants following





The Wolfson* Foundation



the screening process. See section 9.1 for details on the process of screening and consenting participants. All consent/assent will be taken over the phone/video call by research team members who are trained/experienced in taking informed consent and in Good Clinical Practice.

Consent for access to routine health record data will be requested where data may be linked with routine healthcare data (e.g. for participants in Wales via the Secure Anonymised Information Linkage (SAIL) databank housed at Swansea University for longer term follow-up in a future followon study, on variables including depression diagnosis, use of primary and secondary mental health services for depression and prescription of depression medication.

Many young people participating in the study will be under 18 years of age. Online assent forms will be completed over the telephone with a trained researcher by young people aged < 16 years. Consent forms will be completed over the telephone by young people aged 16-19 years. Parents will complete consent forms over the telephone regarding their child's and their own participation in the study.

Only when electronic informed consent/assent has been obtained from the participant and they have been randomised/enrolled into the trial can they be considered a trial participant.

The right of the young person or their parent to refuse to participate in the trial without giving reasons must be respected. Assent/consent will be required from both the young person and their parent in order to participate. Similarly, the participant must remain free to withdraw at any time from the trial without giving reasons and without prejudicing his/her further treatment (see section 10).

9.6 Registration and randomisation

Registration

Once a participant patient has been deemed eligible for entry into the trial, informed consent is obtained from the participant. The participant will be registered on the trial database and assigned a unique identification number.





The Wolfson* Foundation



Randomisation

The method of randomisation will be random permuted block randomisation stratified by site with a 1:1 allocation ratio and the unit of randomisation being the young person. The trial statistician has generated the allocation schedule, and this will be built into the REDCap trial database. The procedure for entering participants into the trial will consist of random allocation to either i) the SWELL intervention plus usual care, OR ii) usual care only. This will occur in two phases: 1) young people whose parent is not currently depressed will complete the baseline assessment and then be randomised immediately, and 2) young people whose parent is currently depressed will not complete baseline assessments followed by randomisation until their parent has completed a 12-week treatment optimisation period. They will undertake baseline assessments and randomisation once this is complete. Though where the parent fails to engage with the treatment optimisation (as defined by a failure to attend the initial appointment followed by two additional failed attempts at contacting/booking in an appointment for the parent), baseline assessments will be completed and the young person will be randomised. For young people allocated to the intervention arm, the intervention will begin once a therapy group is formed. We aim for therapy groups to include 6-8 participants.

10 Withdrawal & loss to follow-up

10.1 Withdrawal

Participants have the right to withdraw consent for participation in any aspect of the trial at any time. The participants' care will not be affected at any time by declining to participate or withdrawing from the trial. A 'withdrawal form' will be completed if a participant withdraws from the study.

If a participant initially consents but subsequently withdraws from the trial, clear distinction must be made as to what aspect of the trial the participant is withdrawing from. These aspects could be:

Withdrawal from intervention

Partial withdrawal from further data collection (e.g. questionnaires, clinical assessments)





The Wolfson* Foundation



Complete withdrawal from further data collection

Withdrawal of permission to use data already collected

We will continue to collect any safety data ongoing at the time of withdrawal, especially if the participant withdraws because of a safety event. There is specific guidance on this contained in the Participant Information Sheet.

If a participant wishes to stop taking part in the trial completely, they may need to be seen one last time for a brief assessment about their reasons for withdrawing, to confirm their wishes and to signpost to services where needed.

In all instances participants who consent and subsequently withdraw should complete a withdrawal form (see Withdrawal Form in trial pack) or the withdrawal form should be completed on the participant's behalf by the researcher/PI based on information provided by the participant. Any queries relating to potential withdrawal of a participant should be forwarded to trial team.

10.2 Loss to follow-up

If a participant withdraws from the study, the data collected up to that point will be retained and used for the remainder of the study, if the participant does not withdraw consent for its use. We will attempt to contact those wishing to withdraw from the study to understand the reasons for withdrawing. This data might contribute to the assessment of the feasibility and acceptability of the programme and evaluation process.

11 Trial Intervention

11.1 SWELL intervention plus usual care versus usual care only

The young people will be allocated to either i) the SWELL intervention plus usual care, OR ii) usual care only.





The Wolfson* Foundation



The SWELL programme is a psycho-educational, cognitive-behavioural intervention for the prevention of unipolar depression in adolescents at an increased risk of depression. It is designed to be offered in small group settings delivered in two phases – the acute and continuation phase. The acute phase consists of eight 60-minute sessions delivered online by a trained therapist once a week, to groups of a maximum size of 8 young people across the age range of 13-19 years. The sessions are accompanied by a workbook for young people. The first few sessions give an overview of depression, its relationship to stressful situations, and introduce group members to one another. The following sessions focus on training the young people in cognitive-restructuring skills and in modifying irrational or negative thoughts, as these are hypothesized to contribute to the development and maintenance of depressive disorder. Other skills covered include assertiveness, relaxation and behavioural activation. The acute phase will then be followed by 3 monthly continuation sessions. These will be delivered to the same groups of up to 8 young people by the therapist, and will focus on reviewing and consolidating skills covered in the acute sessions.

Parents of young people receiving the intervention will be offered to attend two online parent information sessions of 60 minutes long during the weeks of the young person acute session 1 and session 4. The parent information sessions include details about the practicalities of young people attending the group, the theory underlying the intervention, how they can support their young people to engage with home practice activities between sessions and an overview of the content of each session. The first parent information session focuses on the content of young person sessions 1 to 4, and the second parent information session focuses on the content of young person sessions 5 to 8 and continuation sessions.

In this study, the intervention has been updated to identify parents who are currently depressed and to optimise their treatment before the young person is randomised to the intervention or usual care arm.

In both study arms, the young person's parent will be offered treatment optimisation as part of the study if they are currently depressed, as this will occur prior to randomisation.





The Wolfson* Foundation



The young people in the usual care arm will not receive the SWELL intervention, though they will be able to continue with any usual care that they already receive (noting that young people on antidepressants or receiving CBT will be excluded at study entry as part of exclusion criteria), and will be free to begin new treatment outside of the study. In the intervention arm, young people will also be free to continue existing treatment and begin new treatments outside of the study, alongside receiving the SWELL intervention. Young people in both the intervention arms will participate in a 3-month post-randomisation follow-up consisting of brief online questionnaires. The final 9-month follow-up assessment will consist of online questionnaires and a videocall including researcher-led clinical interviews about the young person and parent. More detail on the data collected at the 3 and 9-month follow-up assessments can be found in section 12.

11.2 Compliance

Participants will have an opportunity to discuss the study with the research team at the start via phone, video conferencing or email. When the participants are recruited, they will be asked for their contact details and how they would prefer to be contacted. The study website will also be updated regularly. Participants will receive information on the schedule of the trial including the dates of therapy sessions, and will be provided with the contact details of the research team if required during the course (or at the end) of the trial. They will continue to receive usual care (e.g. seeing school counsellor) where appropriate. Text and email reminders will be sent at regular intervals. Participants will receive voucher payments for participating after completing the baseline assessments (£10), 3-month follow-up (£20) and again after the 9-month follow-up (£30). Those participants who participate in the qualitative interviews and/or focus groups will receive an additional payment (£20).

Attendance to SWELL intervention sessions and the completion of any homework that is set will be monitored, e.g., via registers taken at each session by the therapist. The therapist will complete an adherence checklist at the end of the intervention to record young person engagement in the intervention and attendance. Adherence to the intervention will be defined as attending 6 out of 8 acute sessions and 2 out of 3 continuation sessions. Adherence will be rewarded by providing certificates following completion of the programme. Therapists will offer sessions scheduled outside the school day and one-to-one catch-up sessions on occasions when young people are unable to attend a session.









Attendance to the parent treatment optimisation phase will also be recorded in an adherence checklist completed by the psychiatrist at the end of the parent treatment optimisation phase. The opportunity to be assessed and treated by a specialist (psychiatrist) may be attractive and we will offer flexibility in how parents complete the initial assessment appointment (in person/videocall). Adherence to parent treatment optimisation will be defined as completion of the initial assessment and 4 follow-up calls.

12 Trial procedures

12.1 Overview of assessments & data collection

Data will be collected via online assessments (questionnaires and researcher-led clinical interviews) with parents and young people at baseline and follow-up assessments. Consent will be obtained to allow longer term follow-up in a separate study (funded by the Wellcome Trust grant 303982/Z/23/Z) via data linkage with routine health, education and social care data (e.g. via the SAIL databank).

All assessments and data collection will be completed remotely – via online questionnaires and video conferencing/phone call. Researchers will not look at completed questionnaires at baseline, 3 months or 9 months during the course of the study. Data collected in the questionnaires will be accessed at the end of the study for analysis only. This has been made clear to participants in the text provided with the questionnaire link.

The following domains will be assessed:

- a) A rapid review of the feasibility of delivering the trial and intervention online will be assessed via qualitative interviews with the therapist/s facilitating the first two intervention groups enrolled. This will inform whether any minor adjustments to the way we conduct the trial and intervention needed before continuing the trial with the rest of the participants and therapy groups.
- b) Effectiveness of the programme on primary and secondary outcomes at follow-up.





The Wolfson* Foundation



- c) An embedded process evaluation of the implementation of the intervention, and participants' interactions with it, focussing on the elements of fidelity, exposure, reach and context.
- d) Evaluation of the mechanisms through which the intervention brings about change (qualitative and quantitative data). (see Sections 12.2, 12.4 and Figure 1)).
- e) Process evaluation to examine the impact of the main adaptations to the intervention of i) treatment for currently depressed parents at baseline and ii) delivering the SWELL intervention online (gualitative and guantitative data, see Sections 12.2 and 12.4).
- f) Description of participant characteristics to inform the representativeness of the trial (e.g. age, gender, ethnicity, language, source of recruitment (e.g. NCMH, primary care unit), details of help received where relevant (practitioner seen, form of talking/psychotherapy, prescribed medication), past history of depression, home living circumstances (e.g. lives with parent(s)/carer(s), other), education/occupation (school/college, out-of-school, university, employed), and parent characteristics including socioeconomic status.

12.2 Outcomes and measures (baseline and follow-up):

Parents and young people will complete assessments online at an initial screening stage, at baseline, and at 3 months and 9 months post-randomisation (Section 3.1: participant flow diagram). As a part of the SWELL intervention, young people will also complete regular assessments of depressive symptoms to track symptom change, which will contribute to the process evaluation of how the intervention might work and when symptoms start to improve. The full schedule of assessment measures to be used at each of these time points is shown in section 12.6.

Primary outcome

Depressive episode: The primary outcome is time (from randomisation to event in weeks) to the first DSM-5 depression episode occurring in the young people between randomisation and the 9-month follow-up period. This will be measured using the longitudinal interval follow-up evaluation (LIFE) which will be conducted via interview at the 9-month follow-up assessment (Keller et al., 1987), completed by the young people about themselves, and by the parent about the young people. The LIFE is a validated, semi-structured, research diagnostic interview designed to assess the longitudinal course of psychiatric disorder. It involves the interviewer completing a detailed assessment that

54





The Wolfson* Foundation



allows them to ascertain the level of depressive symptoms over the entire follow-up period. The interviewer starts by helping the participant recall the depression symptoms they described at their last interview (i.e. 9 months earlier, at baseline assessment). They then ask about change points in the participants depressive symptoms over the follow up period allowing them to track the onset and offset of symptoms. Based on this data, a depressive symptom rating (DSR) for each week of follow-up is derived. Week by week DSR scores coded by researchers during the interview at 9month follow-up will be recorded on the study database. In this study, a score on the depression symptom rating of 4 or more for at least 2 weeks will index a depressive episode. The DSR score for depressive episodes has been shown to correlate with other standard measures of depression (Warshaw et al., 1994). The LIFE provides enough detail to date individual depressive symptoms and episodes, and allows calculation of time to recovery, length of wellness intervals and time to recurrence (Keller et al., 1987). All researchers undertaking the LIFE interview will be trained in the use of the measure. In addition, all interviews will be audio recorded, and consistency across raters will be checked (inter-rater reliability). Approximately 10% of interviews will be independently coded by a separate member of the research team and the inter-rater reliability of depressive episodes will be assessed using percentage agreement between raters.

Secondary outcomes

Number of depression free weeks, length of wellness intervals, time to recovery from depressive episodes and time to recurrence of depressive episode: The forementioned variables will be measured using the LIFE at 9-month follow-up, as described in the primary outcome section above. *Depression symptom score*: Depression symptoms will be measured at screening, baseline, 3-month and 9-month follow-up to assess whether depression symptoms in young people change over the duration of the follow-up. They will be measured using the Centre for Epidemiological Studies-depression scale (CES-D) (Radloff et al., 1991), completed by the young person, and the Revised Children's Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS) (Chorpita et al., 2000), completed by the young person and their parent. The Center for Epidemiological Studies – depression scale (CES-D) (Radloff et al., 1991). It is a 20-item, self-report measure of depressive symptoms; each item is scored on a scale of 0-3, with a total range of 0-60. It has good internal consistency across clinical ($\alpha = 0.83-0.84$) and non-clinical samples ($\alpha = 0.81-0.93$) (Stockings et al., 2015). The Revised Child Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS) (Chorpita et al., 2000) is a

55





The Wolfson* Foundation



measure of depression and anxiety in young people. It is made up of 47 items, scored on a scale of 0-4 and grouped into 6 subscales. One subscale (10 items) measures depression symptoms, and the other subscales measure symptoms of separation anxiety disorder, social phobia, generalised anxiety disorder, panic disorder and obsessive compulsive disorder. It has been shown to have excellent internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.93$) (Stockings et al., 2015).

Depression risk score: a risk score tool developed at Cardiff University will be used to assess individuals' 3-year risk of developing depression (see Stephens et al., 2022). The risk score is based on age, sex, income, adolescents' symptoms of anxiety, symptoms of depression, presence of stressful life events in the past 12 months, and current parent depression symptoms. The risk score will be calculated at baseline and at the 9-month follow-up, allowing us to assess whether it changes over the course of the intervention.

Anxiety symptoms: The RCADS (Chorpita et al, 2000) (described earlier) will be used to measure anxiety symptoms at baseline, 3 and 9 months and will be completed by both the young person and their parent.

Irritability symptoms: Irritability will be measured using the Affective Reactivity Index (ARI) (Stringaris et al., 2012). The ARI is a dimensional measure of irritability containing 7 items scored on a 3-point scale. It will be completed by young people and their parents at baseline, 3 months and 9 months.

Quality of life: This will be assessed using the EQ-5D-Y. The EQ-5D-Y consists of questions about mobility, looking after self, doing usual activities, pain/discomfort, and feeling worried, sad, or unhappy (Wille et al., 2012), as well as including a vertical visual analogue scale ranging from "the best health you can imagine" to "the worst health you can imagine". It will be completed by the young people at baseline and 9-month follow-up.

Developmental competence: A questionnaire used to measure developmental competence (Brent et al., 2015), has been modified to make a 9-item measure, with each item scored 0-4 and the total ranging from 0-36. This will be completed by the young person at baseline and 9 months. *Functional impairment:* The Children's Global Assessment Scale (cGAS) (Shaffer et al., 1983) will be completed by the interviewer about the young person at baseline and 9 months. The cGAS measures psychological and social functioning rated on a scale of 0-100, with a lower score indicating greater impairment.





The Wolfson* Foundation



Measures of Possible Mediators

The Logic model (Figure 1) shows hypothesized mediators of change for the SWELL intervention. Possible mediators will be measured at baseline, 3 months and 9 months to allow for exploratory analysis of change in the mediators over time, including checking the temporal ordering of exposure, mediator and outcome, which will be important given the strong within time correlations that are likely to be observed between the mediators and the outcome. It is possible that certain hypothesized mediators, such as those relating to changes in mindset including dysfunctional attitudes and self-efficacy, may act as both mediators and secondary outcomes. Those that show evidence of change at 3 months (which is either maintained at final follow-up or not) will be included in the mediation analysis and those that show change at final follow-up but not at 3 months will be treated as secondary outcomes. These include measures of negative self-beliefs, self-efficacy and problem solving, perceived stress, behavioral activation and interpersonal relationships. Negative self-beliefs: The Dysfunctional Attitudes Scale for Children (DAS-C) (D'Alessandro and Burton, 2006) measures negative beliefs and will be completed by young people. The DAS-C is a 22item self-report measure of dysfunctional attitudes, using a 6-point scale ranging from 1 = "strongly disagree" to 6 = "strongly agree". Scores can be summed to make a total score. It has been shown to have good internal consistency (Cronbach's α = 0.87) (D'Alessandro and Burton, 2006). Self-efficacy and problem solving: Young people will complete the Generalised Self-Efficacy Scale (GSE) (Schwartzer and Jerusalem, 1995) to measure self-efficacy. The GSE is a 10-item, self-report scale that assesses perceived self-efficacy. It is scored on a 5-point scale ranging from 1 = "not at all true" to 5 = "exactly true." It has good internal consistency (Cronbach's α = 0.76-0.90 across studies). Perceived stress: Young people will complete the perceived stress scale (PSS) (Cohen et al., 1983). The PSS is a 10-item questionnaire scored on a scale from 0 to 4, measuring domains of unpredictability, lack of control, burden overload, and stressful circumstances. It has been shown to have good internal consistency (Lee et al., 2012).

Behavioural activation: Young people will complete the behavioural activation scale for depressionshort form (BADS-SF) (Kanter et al., 2012). This is a 9-item, self-report scale scored on a 7-point scale from 0-6, ranging from 0 = "not at all" to 6 = "completely". It has been shown to have good internal consistency and test-re-test reliability (Kanter et al., 2012).

Family relationships: The Conflict Behaviour Questionnaire (Robin et al., 1989) will be completed by the parent. This is a 20-item measure with each item scored true or false. The Child's Report of





The Wolfson* Foundation



Parental Behaviour Inventory (CRPBI) will be completed by the young person. It is a 21-item scale that measures a child's perceptions of their parent's child-rearing behavior (Margolies et al., 1977). Finally, the child disclosure subscale from the parent monitoring measure (Stattin and Kerr, 2000) will also be completed by parents.

Measures of possible moderators

Potential moderators of intervention effectiveness to be investigated as part of exploratory analyses include characteristics of the young people (e.g., comorbidity, stressful life events and initiation of new treatments/service use) and parents (e.g., current depression status, parent's adherence to the treatment optimisation phase if they were currently depressed at screening stage).

Potential moderators - Young person

Past psychiatric history and treatment: Questions regarding previous young person mental health diagnoses and treatment history will be completed by parents about the young person as part of the initial screening for eligibility.

Measures of psychopathology: In addition to the primary and secondary outcomes described above, several other measures of psychopathology will be completed about the young person. To determine adolescents' eligibility for the trial, we will screen them for a current depressive episode, by asking their parent whether or not they have been told by a doctor that they have a diagnosis of depression. Past history of depression in the young person will also be assessed during screening. Parents will be asked if their child has ever been diagnosed with depression by a doctor. If not, they will be asked about their child's history of depression symptoms using DSM-5 criteria for a Major Depressive Episode. However, given ethical concerns around asking about suicidal thoughts at screening, the DSM-5 depression symptom "recurrent thoughts of death, suicidal ideation or suicide attempts" will not be asked about at screening and a total symptom count of 4 or more will be used to establish a history of probable depressive episode. A history of depression will be counted as present if the young person has previously been diagnosed by a doctor or if they have met DSM-5 criteria for probable depression in the past. At baseline further information about depression will be obtained using the parent reported Development and Well Being Assessment (DAWBA). The DAWBA is a structured diagnostic interview that asks about a range of psychiatric symptoms based on DSM diagnosis (Goodman et al., 2000). Symptoms of Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) and Attention





The Wolfson* Foundation



Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (ADHD) also will be assessed at baseline using the parent rated Social Communication Disorder Checklist (SCDC) (Skuse et al., 2005) for ASD symptoms and the parent rated DuPaul ADHD questionnaire (DuPaul et al., 1981) for ADHD symptoms. *Life events*: Information on significant life events at baseline and at the 9-month follow-up will be obtained with the Life Events Checklist (LEC) (Johnson et al., 1980), completed by young people and parents. The LEC measures positive and negative life events in young people aged 13-18 that occurred in the last 12 months and ever. This life events measure contributes to the depression risk score (described earlier).

Service use and treatment: A modified version of the Client Service Receipt Inventory (Beecham and Knapp, 2001) will be used to measure service use and will be completed by young people and parents at baseline and at the 9-month follow-up.

Potential moderators - Parent

Family history of depression and other psychiatric disorders: Information about family history of depression will be collected at baseline from the parents. They will be asked if their parents or siblings also have a history of depression. Parents will also be asked at baseline whether any first or second degree relatives have a history of any other psychiatric disorders (e.g. anxiety, bipolar affective disorder, schizophrenia).

Measures of parental psychopathology: To determine parents' eligibility for the trial, we will screen them for a history of depression by asking whether they have ever been diagnosed with depression by a doctor. If not, they will be asked about past depression symptoms using the DSM 5 criteria for Major Depressive Episode. However, given ethical concerns around asking about suicidal thoughts at screening, the DSM-5 depression symptom "recurrent thoughts of death, suicidal ideation or suicide attempts" will not be asked about at screening and a total symptom count of 4 or more will be used to establish a history of probable depressive episode. A history of depression will be counted as present if the parent has previously been diagnosed by a doctor or if they have met DSM-5 criteria for probable depression in the past. Past psychiatric history in the parent, in particular the timing, duration, and severity of previous depressive episodes, will be recorded using a life history calendar approach (Caspi et al., 1996). Parents also will complete the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) (Kroenke et al., 2001) at screening, baseline, 3 months, and 9 months to assess whether parents'





The Wolfson* Foundation



depressive symptoms change over the duration of the trial. The PHQ-9 measures depression symptoms and was developed to screen for depression in adults in the primary care setting. It has 9 items, each scored 0-3, with a suggested cut-off of \geq 10 indicating mild, clinically significant symptoms (Kroenke et al., 2001). Symptoms of anxiety will be measured using the Screen for Adult Anxiety Related Disorders (SCAARED) (Angula et al., 2017). This is a 44 item questionnaire asking about anxiety symptoms in adults, with subscales including generalised anxiety disorder, separation anxiety disorder, social phobia and panic disorder or significant somatic symptoms. It will be completed by parents at baseline, 3 and 9 month follow-up.

The schedules for clinical assessment in neuropsychiatry (SCAN) (Wing et al., 1990) will assess depression diagnosis in the parent at baseline. The Parents also will be interviewed with the Longitudinal Interval Follow-Up Evaluation (LIFE) (Keller et al., 1987) at 9 months, to obtain detailed information about their depression over the follow-up period. Interviewer rated measures about the parent's depression (Hamilton Depression Rating Scale) (Hamilton, 1980) and functioning (Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF)) (American Psychiatric Association, 2000) will be completed at baseline and at the 9-month follow-up.

Parent functioning: The 12-item version of the World Health Organisation Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS) (WHO, 2010) will be completed by the parent at baseline and at the 9-month follow-up. The WHODAS measures health-related quality of life and asks about difficulties due to health conditions over the last 30 days. Domains covered include cognition, mobility, self-care, getting along, life activities, and participation.

Service use: A modified version of the Client Service Receipt Inventory (Beecham and Knapp, 2001) will be used to measure parent service use at baseline and at the 9-month follow-up.

Adherence to the parent treatment optimisation phase: attendance to the initial consultation and each follow-up session of the 12-week parent treatment optimisation phase will be documented by research team at the end of the 12-week period.

Baseline Demographics:

Young person characteristics: Demographic information including age, sex, gender, ethnicity, race, language, with whom the adolescent lives, geographical location, and education/occupation will be collected at baseline.









Parent characteristics: Demographic information about parents will be collected at baseline including age, sex, ethnicity, whether they have a partner/spouse, language, education level, occupation and income.

12.3 Follow-up

Participants will be followed up at 3 months and 9 months post-randomisation, which is consistent with previous studies of this intervention (Garber et al., 2009). Young people and their parents will participate in assessments separately regarding the young person's depressive symptoms (3 and 9 months), measures of potential mediators of the effectiveness of the intervention (3 and 9 months—to allow for exploratory analysis of change in the mediators over time, including checking the temporal ordering of exposure, mediator and outcome), and depressive episodes since baseline (9-month follow-up).

12.4 Process evaluation

The process evaluation will aim to investigate how the intervention worked, the parts of the intervention and trial that worked well and for whom, and to identify any aspects that could be modified to improve effectiveness prior to implementation. We will focus on the following elements: recruitment and reach, retention, fidelity, adherence and contextual factors in terms of how this might impact on intervention effectiveness. In addition, we will investigate the acceptability of the new elements introduced in this trial – the intervention being delivered online, and the addition of the parent treatment optimisation phase prior to the randomisation of the young person. The process evaluation will also help us to understand underlying mechanisms of effectiveness of the intervention, by further investigating how mediators detailed in the logic model (Section 4, Figure 1) might work. The process evaluation will employ a mixed methods approach, utilising quantitative data collected (for example, from questionnaires, registers of attendance, etc.) and qualitative data.

Questionnaires will be completed at baseline by parents in the parent depression treatment optimisation group, and at 3 months by young people and parents of young people allocated to the intervention arm. Qualitative data will be collected via interviews with parents and professionals after completion of the parent treatment optimisation, and via focus groups with young people who





The Wolfson* Foundation



were allocated to the intervention arm (approximately 16 individuals in total), parents of young people allocated to the intervention arm (approximately 8 individuals in total) and professionals involved in delivering the intervention (up to 4 individuals) as soon as possible after the 9 month follow-up. As recruitment of participants take place over an extended period of time, qualitative focus groups/interviews will be staggered across three different time points in the study to allow collection of qualitative data from participants completing the trial early on in the study period, in the middle stages, and in the late stages of the study period. These interviews and focus groups will provide more in-depth information on the acceptability of exploratory aspects of the intervention, including the treatment of current parental depression prior to the intervention for the young people, and the delivery of the intervention online. They will also provide in-depth information on the fidelity, exposure, reach and context of the intervention and trial and how this might have impacted upon intervention effectiveness. Separate interviews/focus groups will also be undertaken with young people (approximately 8 individuals) and parents of young people (approximately 8 individuals) who were allocated to the usual care only arm of the study. A process evaluation framework has been developed, following the MRC guidance on process evaluation (Moore et al. 2015) to explore in detail the different components of our process evaluation and how these will be assessed.

When sampling for the qualitative interviews and/or focus groups, we will ensure that subsamples represent as much variation in the trial participants as possible, in particular, endeavouring to include young people whose parents were depressed at baseline and not depressed, whose parents did and did not recover following treatment optimisation, young people from different intervention therapy groups, young people in the usual care only arm, young people in the intervention arm with differing patterns of depression over the study period (i.e. those who (1) stayed well, (2) improved and stayed well, (3) improved and then relapsed, and (4) did not improve), and participants with different levels of engagement with the study. In addition, we will endeavour to sample maximum variation in terms of gender, age and demographic variables such as socioeconomic status. We will ensure similar representation of all groups for the parent interviews and/or focus groups. Ongoing decisions regarding the size of these qualitative subsamples will be pragmatic based on preliminary findings.





The Wolfson* Foundation



12.5 Data linkage

We will ask participants (both parents and young people) for consent to apply for data linkage to routinely collected data on health and education, service use, symptoms/diagnosis and medication in the future. For participants in Wales such data is held anonymously in the Secure Anonymised Information Linkage (SAIL) dataset at Swansea University. For participants in England such data is held anonymously and securely in NHS Digital. Linkage in the future will require participant consent (this will be made clear in the information sheets and consent forms). We plan to analyse this data under a future funding request as part of a long term follow up of participants to explore whether earlier exposures (e.g., trauma) or use of services might modify the effectiveness of the intervention and to evaluate the impact of the intervention on longer term health outcomes such as treatment for depression.







12.6 Schedule of assessments for the trial

			Follow-up	
	Screen	Baseline	Month 3	Month 9
Questionnaires about Young People				
Eligibility questions (e.g., psychiatric history and treatment)	Р			
Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale (CES-D)	Y	Y	Y	Y
Demographic characteristics (e.g., age, sex, ethnicity, education)		Y, P		
Revised Children's Anxiety and Depression Scale (RCADS)		Y, P	Y, P	Y, P
Affective Reactivity Index (ARI)		Y, P	Y, P	Y, P
Social Communication Disorders Checklist (SCDC)		Р		
DuPaul ADHD Questionnaire		Р		
Dysfunctional Attitudes Scale for Children (DAS-C)		Y	Y	Y
Generalised Self-Efficacy Scale (GSE)		Y	Y	Y
Perceived Stress Scale (PSS)		Y	Y	Y
Behavioural Activation Scale for Depression- short form (BADS-SF)		Y	Y	Y
Developmental Competence Scale (abbreviated)		Y		Y
Conflict Behaviour Questionnaire		Р	Р	Р
Child Report of Parents Behaviour Scale		Y	Y	Y
Parental monitoring (child disclosure questions)		Р	Р	Р
Life Events Checklist (LEC)		Y, P		Y, P
EQ-5D-Y		Y		Y
Interviews about Young People				
Development and Well Being Assessment (DAWBA)		Y, P		
Client Service Receipt Inventory (CSRI)		Y, P		Y, P
Longitudinal Interval Follow-Up Evaluation (LIFE)				Y, P
Questionnaires about Parents	•			•
Eligibility questions (e.g., psychiatric history and treatment)	Р			
Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9)	Р	Р	Р	Р
Demographic characteristics (incl. age, sex, ethnicity, education level, income, occupation)		Р		
Screen for Adult Anxiety Related Disorders (SCAARED)		Р	Р	Р
World Health Organisation Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS)		Р		Р
Interviews about Parents				1
Schedules for clinical assessment in neuropsychiatry (SCAN)		Р		
Past Psychiatric History, using life history calendar approach	1	P		
Client Service Receipt Inventory (CSRI)		P		Р
Longitudinal Interval Follow-Up Evaluation (LIFE)				P
Other Measures				I
Depression risk score (young person)		Int		Int
Children's Global Assessment Scale (cGAS)		Int		Int
Global Assessment of Functioning (GAF)	1	Int		Int







Hamilton Depression Rating Scale (HDRS)	Int		Int
Parent treatment optimisation adherence checklist	Res		
Young person intervention adherence checklist			Res
Young person intervention fidelity checklist		Res	

Y = Completed by young person; P = completed by parent; Int = completed by interviewer. Res = member of the research team (member of treatment optimisation team will complete parent treatment adherence checklist after the optimisation phase; therapist will complete young person adherence checklist after intervention completed; researcher observing sample of intervention group sessions will complete fidelity checklists). Where Y and P are both listed, both parent and young person complete the measure.

13 Safety reporting

The CTR are responsible for ensuring that all staff involved in this study are familiar with the content of this section.

The research team has considerable experience in working with people with mental health difficulties of all ages. Where risk to a participant is identified by the research team (e.g. suicidal thoughts/plans) an internal individual risk assessment will be completed. Following completion of the risk assessment, if required, concerns will be discussed with a clinical member of the study team and standard AE/SAE reporting should be followed (see section 13.5). A clinical member of the study team will be available to respond to concerns regarding risk to participants throughout the duration of the study.

All researchers working on this project who will be in direct contact with research participants hold adequate clearance (e.g. DBS) for working with children and young people.

The study team will record details of Adverse Events (AEs) listed in section 13.1 that are experienced by study participants (young people) and reported by either the study participants or their parents during their participation in the study (from time of signature of informed consent, throughout the duration of the study, including intervention receipt and follow-up) by completing the study specific Serious Adverse Event (SAE) form. Where both young person and parent report the same AE, a separate reporting form will be used for each. Occurrences that meet the definition of an SAE (see section 13.1) must be reported immediately (within 24 hours of knowledge of the event) to the CTR. If the SAE is reported after 24 hours when the study team was aware of this event they must provide reason as to why there was a delay in reporting. Where the same adverse event is ongoing (e.g.







recurrent self-harm) it will be reported the first time it occurs and again where there is a change (e.g. new method of self-harm or change in severity of self-harm using the same method).

13.1 Definitions

Term	Definition		
Adverse Event (AE)	AEs to be recorded for the SWELL study are:		
	suicidal ideation (with a plan/method considered)suicide attempt		
	deliberate self-harm		
Serious Adverse Event	Any adverse event that –		
(SAE)	Results in death		
	Is life-threatening*		
	 Required hospitalisation or prolongation of existing hospitalisation** 		
	Results in persistent or significant disability or incapacity		
	Consists of a congenital anomaly or birth defect		
	 Other medically important condition*** 		

***Note:** The term 'life-threatening' in the definition of serious refers to an event in which the trial participant was at risk of death at the time of the event or it is suspected that used or continued used of the product would result in the subjects death; it does not refer to an event which hypothetically might have caused death if it were more severe.

**** Note:** Hospitalisation is defined as an inpatient admission, regardless of the length of stay, even if the hospitalisation is a precautionary measure for continued observation. Pre-planned hospitalisation e.g. for pre-existing conditions which have not worsened, or elective procedures, does not constitute an SAE.

******* Note: other events that may not result in death, are not life-threatening, or do not require hospitalisation, may be considered as an SAE when, based upon appropriate medical judgement, the event may jeopardise the participant and may require medical or surgical intervention to prevent one of the outcomes listed above.







13.2 Trial Specific SAE Reporting requirements

Expected adverse events in the population under study include:

• AE1 – Act of deliberate self-harm, suicidal ideation (with a plan/method considered) or suicide attempt.

The AE listed above will follow the SAE timeframe of reporting - reported to the CTR with 24 hours of knowledge of the event - for the CI or suitably qualified delegate to assess whether they fit the protocol definition of an SAE (e.g. they require hospitalisation). Occasionally it may be appropriate for the researcher to whom the AE was reported to by a study participant to assess/comment on seriousness in their reporting of the AE to CTR. If the AE is categorised as 'serious', the CI or delegate will continue their causality assessments and standard SAE procedures will be followed.

13.3 Causality

Causal relationship will be assessed for the intervention and procedures:

Intervention: SWELL – a cognitive-behavioural group therapy for adolescents at elevated risk of depression

Procedures: Standardised clinical interviews and questionnaires on adolescent and parent depressive symptoms and episodes (e.g. LIFE, DAWBA, CES-D)

The Chief Investigator or other appropriately trained and qualified members of the research team will assess each SAE to determine the causal relationship:

Relationship	Description	Reasonable possibility	
		that the SAE may have	
		been caused by the	
		intervention?	
lle velete d		No	
Unrelated	There is no evidence of any causal relationship with the	No	
	intervention		
Unlikely	There is little evidence to suggest there is a causal	No	
	relationship with the intervention. There is another		







	reasonable explanation for the event (e.g. the participant's clinical condition, other concomitant treatment).	
Possible	There is some evidence to suggest a causal relationship with the intervention. However, the influence of other factors may have contributed to the event (e.g. the participant's clinical condition, other concomitant treatments).	Yes
Probable	There is evidence to suggest a causal relationship and the influence of other factors is unlikely.	Yes
Definite	There is clear evidence to suggest a causal relationship and other possible contributing factors can be ruled out.	Yes

13.4 Expectedness

Inherent in this study population is the risk of self-harm and suicide, and so the AEs listed in section 13.2 are expected in this population (but these AEs are not expected to be related to the intervention itself). However, the additional contact with the study team for the intervention arm may create greater opportunity for individuals in the intervention arm to report AEs.

The Chief Investigator (or another delegated appropriately qualified individual) will assess the expectedness of each SAE (i.e. events not listed in 13.2 and categorised as serious). SAEs which add significant information on specificity or severity of a known, already documented adverse event constitute unexpected events. For example, an event more specific or more severe than that described in the protocol is considered unexpected.







13.5 Reporting procedures

The CTR will manage the process of reporting, tracking and follow-up of safety events throughout the duration of the study and will train the study team on how to report a safety event to the CTR. (table below covers the delegated staff for SWELL safety reporting procedures).

Procedure	Delegated Staff
Safety reporting activities e.g. AE/SAE reporting, and seriousness assessments (if required)	 Study Team (research staff, trial staff, therapists) Principal Investigator (PI) (i.e. reporting site)
SAE processing	 CTR (Trial manager or Data Manager)
SAE assessment (seriousness, causality and expectedness)	CI or qualified clinical reviewerPI at reporting site

A completed SAE form for all safety events requiring timely reporting should be submitted via email to the trial-specific email address; if the event meets the definition of an expected AE or SAE, it must be reported to the CTR within 24 hours of knowledge of the event. A separate form must be used to report each event, irrespective of whether or not the events had the same date of onset.

The study team member completing the SAE form should sign and date it to acknowledge that they have provided sufficient detail on the event and assessed the seriousness (if applicable) based on the protocol definitions in section 13.1. The CI or suitably qualified delegate will perform the causality and expectedness assessments within a timeframe of 24-72 hours.

The CTR will evaluate whether the seriousness criteria and other information in the SAE form are consistent and query any inconsistencies with the study team.

The participant will be identified only by trial number, partial date of birth (mm/yy) and initials. The participant's name should not be used on any correspondence. It is also required that sites respond to and clarify any queries raised on any reported SAEs and report any additional information as and when it becomes available through to the resolution of the event. Additionally, the CTR may request







additional information relating to any SAEs and the site should provide as much information as is available to them in order to resolve these queries.

Serious Adverse Event (SAE) email address:

SWELL@cardiff.ac.uk

An SAE form is not considered as complete unless the following details are provided:

- Full participant trial number
- An Adverse Event
- A completed assessment of the seriousness, and causality.

Following the initial report, all SAEs should be followed up to resolution wherever possible. Follow up information must be provided on a new SAE form.

Reports of any related and unexpected Serious Adverse Events (SAEs) will be submitted to the Research Ethics Committee (REC) and Sponsor within 15 days of the CTR becoming aware of the event. There is no requirement for Annual Safety Reports (ASRs) in addition to the information provided through the annual progress report. The CTR will report SAEs until the final follow-up assessment, or until the qualitative interviews and/or focus groups for those who participate in these, which will take place shortly after the 9-month follow-up.

All SAEs and AEs will be reported by the CTR and discussed as a standard agenda item by the TSC during their routine meetings.

13.6 Urgent Safety Measures (USMs)

An urgent safety measure is an action that the Sponsor, CTR or CI may carry out in order to protect the participants of a trial against any immediate hazard to their health or safety. Any urgent safety measure relating to this trial must be notified to the REC and Sponsor immediately by telephone, and in any event within 3 days in writing, that such a measure has been taken.







14 Statistical considerations

14.1 Randomisation

Participants will be randomised 1:1 using random permuted blocks stratified by site, with the unit of randomisation being the young person. The allocation schedule has been generated by the trial statistician by using ralloc (a STATA module to design randomised controlled trials) in STATA v17. The randomisation will be online to maintain allocation concealment from the trial recruiters and built into the CTR trial database. The randomisation system will be developed and tested by CTR according to their standardised procedures.

14.2 Blinding

It is not possible to blind the trial therapists or participants due to the nature of the intervention. Assessors for the follow-ups will be blind to the intervention arm. Data analysis (conducted by the trial statistician) will be carried out blinded to group allocation.

14.3 Sample size

We aim to recruit 400 adolescent participants and their parents/carers. We expect loss to follow-up of around 10% at 9 months based on previous studies of this population (Garber et al., 2009; Mars et al., 2012).

The starting point for the minimum clinically important difference (MCID) for this study is a conservative estimate of the hazard ratio (HR) of 0.63, taken from a previous study of the Coping with Stress intervention in the adolescent children of depressed parents in the US (Garber et al., 2009). However, we expect the effect of the intervention in this RCT to be greater than the one seen in the Garber et al. study (see below). We therefore define the minimum clinically important difference (MCID) for this study as an HR of at least 0.60 (equivalent to an 11% difference in MDD between intervention arms). We expect the effect size to be slightly larger than that described by Garber et al (2009) for the following reasons: 1) The study by Garber et al found that the intervention was not effective when parents were currently depressed. In this study, we will add





The Wolfson* Foundation



parent depression treatment prior to randomisation. We expect that 65% of parents will have recovered or substantially improved by the end of the optimisation period based on previous RCT studies of SilverCloud and other iCBT interventions (Richards et al 2020; Gilbody et al 2017). We anticipate that 40% of the recruited sample of parents will meet criteria for a current depressive episode based on data from our previous cohort of depressed parents where 39.3% of parents scored 10 or more on the PHQ-9 at baseline (Mars et al. 2012; 2015). We also expect the rates of parent depression at baseline to be lower in our study than observed in the Garber et al. study (45.4%). This is because our inclusion criteria (at least one parent with an episode of depression) differs slightly from the inclusion criteria used in Garber et al. (at least one parent with MDD or dysthymia in the last 3 years, or a depressive disorder with at least 3 occurrences, or a depressive episode of at least 3 years' duration during the adolescent's life). The addition of treatment optimisation to the study design and the anticipated lower rate of parental depression should create a more homogenous sample in terms of current parent depression at baseline than the previous study and therefore we expect to gain additional statistical power. 2) In the study by Garber et al (2009), parental depression at baseline was associated with a higher rate of MDD in young people in the intervention arm only suggesting that parental depression undermined the effectiveness of the intervention for the young person (rather that exhibiting an association irrespective of intervention arm). We therefore expect the inclusion of parent treatment optimisation prior to the intervention for the young person to increase the difference between study arms consistent with expecting a slightly larger effect size in this study than that observed in the Garber et al (2009) study.

With a sample size of up to 400 randomised participants, we are able to estimate the statistical power to detect a difference of at least 0.63 in the HR between the RCT arms to be 73.4% with an assumed 10% loss to follow-up at the end of a 9-month follow-up and a one sided alpha of 0.05. However for an expected greater effect, a HR of 0.6 (our specified MCID for this intervention; equivalent to an 11% difference in MDD between study arms) will achieve 79.9% power and a HR of 0.56 (equivalent to a 12% difference between study arms) will attain 87.0% power. A STATA sample






size program (ART – Analysis of Resources for Trials) was used for this estimation (Royston and Parmar, 2013; Babiker et al, 2015).

To ensure that the required sample size is achieved, the recruitment rates will be monitored by the Project Team Management group and compared to target recruitment rates which will be regularly calculated and updated. If the recruitment rates are not as expected and if the loss of follow-up rates are higher than expected, additional strategies to boost recruitment and subsequent retention will be implemented.

14.4 Missing, unused & spurious data

Missing item by item data will be handled according to the scoring algorithm for each measure individually.

14.5 Procedures for reporting deviation(s) from the original SAPC

These will be submitted as substantial amendments where applicable and recorded in subsequent versions of the protocol and Statistical Analysis Plan (SAP).

14.6 Termination of the trial

If there is evidence that the programme is having a negative effect on the participants' symptoms, if there is a significant imbalance in adverse events (e.g. suicidal ideation (with a plan/method considered), deliberate self-harm or suicide attempts) between the intervention group and usual care group (allowing for the fact that it is anticipated that more events will be reported in the intervention group, as detailed in section 13.5)., or if there are significant concerns about safety – we would need to consider stopping the trial This will be discussed with the wider research team and TSC.







14.7 Inclusion in analysis

All eligible and randomised participants will be included in the analysis – consistent with an intention to treat analysis.

15 Analysis

A detailed Statistical Analysis Plan (SAP) will be produced by the trial statistician(s) and reviewed by the Trial Management Group and oversight Steering Committee prior to database lock. Analyses are described in brief below.

15.1 Flow of participants

The flow of participants through the trial will be presented as a CONSORT flowchart (Rennie 2001; <u>http://www.consort-statement.org/</u>) for all participants approached in the study (see section 3.1).

15.2 Baseline data and participant characteristics

Baseline data will be presented for all consented and randomised participants. This will be summarised and tabulated using proportions and means and SDs (or median and IQRs), for the whole group and by arm. All subsequent summaries will use the complete cases and will employ the intention to treat principle (participants will remain in the groups to which they were randomised irrespective of intervention received).

15.3 Effectiveness outcomes related to the SWELL intervention:

The primary outcome is time to the first depressive episode in the young person during the 9-month follow-up period.





The Wolfson* Foundation



 Secondary outcomes include depressive symptoms, depression risk score (Stephens et al., 2023), anxiety symptoms, irritability symptoms, quality of life, developmental competence and functional impairment.

15.4 Process evaluation:

Section 12.1 defines the key questions to be assessed in the nested process evaluation. In brief, the process evaluation will assess fidelity, adherence, feasibility and acceptability of the intervention and possible intervention mechanisms. It will also assess how key adaptations made to SWELL (i.e. the addition of treatment optimisation) influence effectiveness and potential implementation of the intervention. We aim to conduct interviews and focus groups with YP, parents and professionals involved in the adolescent-focused SWELL intervention and parent treatment optimisation. We will additionally ask for feedback on trial processes which will include those allocated to both study arms ((see Sections 12.4 and 15.5 for further details).

15.5 Qualitative analysis of interviews and/or focus groups

Qualitative interviews and/or focus groups will be conducted with the participating young people, and parents separately shortly after the time of their 9-month follow-up, and with professionals (e.g. CBT therapists, psychiatrists, and trial deliverers) towards the middle to end of their participation in the trial, as a qualitative exploration of how the intervention procedure worked for them. We aim to ensure that participants in the qualitative interviews and/or focus groups represent the different groups participating in the trail, i.e., young people whose parents were depressed at baseline and not depressed, whose parents did and did not recover following treatment optimisation, young people from different intervention therapy groups, young people in the usual care arm, young people in the intervention arm with differing patterns of depression over the study period (e.g. those who (1) stayed well, (2) improved and stayed well, (3) improved and then relapsed, and (4) did not improve), and participants with different levels of engagement with the study. A small sub-set of professionals may also be interviewed earlier in the trial to provide rapid feedback to inform trial conduct. Semi-structured topic guides will be developed using a scoping literature review and input from the interdisciplinary research team. The topic guide will include overarching topics, but will be flexible and allow the interview to be guided by the interviewee and allow the interviewee to initiate





The Wolfson* Foundation



and develop topics that have not been pre-empted by researchers. This will also include open ended questions about elements that may impact upon trial effectiveness but that we have not been able to specifically measure, such as scaffolding of the parent for young person CBT, stigma, and allowing parents and children an avenue to talk about their mental health. The qualitative interview and/or focus group data will form a part of our process evaluation, focussing on the acceptability of online delivery and concurrent treatment of parent depression, potential mechanisms of change underlying intervention effectiveness (see the logic model in Section 4, Figure 1), in addition to more broadly what worked well and what did not work as well in the intervention and trial. Early interviews carried out with professionals to inform trial conduct may be analysed using rapid content analysis of audio or written transcript, to allow rapid feedback to the trial team and TMG. Recordings of qualitative interviews and/or focus groups will be transcribed and de-identified (though an identification number will be retained to allow matching across different interviews where helpful for analysis, e.g., matching parents to their child), and data analysis will proceed using a Framework analysis approach (Ritchie & Spencer, 1994). This is a process of identifying, analysing, reporting and interpreting patterns or themes and is one of the most commonly used qualitative approaches in health research (Mays et al., 2005). Framework analysis consists of two major components: creating an analytic framework and applying this analytic framework. (Ritchie & Spencer, 1994). These two major components occur through five steps: (1) Data familiarisation, (2) identifying a thematic framework, (3) indexing all data against the framework, (4) charting to summarise the indexed data and (5) mapping and interpretation of patterns found within the charts. Qualitative researchers will develop a common agreed coding framework. There will be regular review meetings and discussions to ensure consistent application of the code book between coders and to ensure the codes are interpreted consistently across the team. Framework Analysis will be supported by computer assisted qualitative analysis software (Nvivo, QSR International).

15.6 Quantitative analysis of standardised interview and baseline questionnaires

Baseline interview and questionnaire data will be scored according to the validated scoring algorithms from the relevant literature. Missing item by item data will be handled according to the scoring algorithm for each measure individually. Baseline scores will be presented descriptively, using summary statistics (means, standard deviation, and percentages with associated 95% confidence interval where appropriate) for the whole group and by arm. A comparison of baseline





The Wolfson* Foundation



data for those completing and not completing the study at 9 months will be conducted to assess drop-out bias. This comparison will not utilise hypothesis tests but will present 95% confidence intervals for differences only.

15.7 Primary outcome statistical analysis

The primary analysis will be time-to-event analysis of the primary outcome (time to the first depressive episode collected at the 9-month follow-up data point). A Cox proportional hazards regression model will be used to determine the difference between trial arms and the hazard ratio with 95% confidence intervals estimated. The Cox model will include site as a fixed factor. A further term, investigated for inclusion in the primary model, will be a random effect to account for the group delivery clustering in the intervention arm. If the effect of the clustering is determined to be negligible this term will be excluded. Assumptions of the model will be checked to ensure model validity. Pre-specified subgroups to be compared descriptively include those defined by baseline characteristics of the young people (e.g., anxiety) and parents (e.g., whether parent's treatment was optimised prior to randomisation). Such possible effect modification will be investigated via the inclusion of arm*modifier interaction term.

The primary analysis will utilise the complete case dataset, however, multiple imputation will be considered under a missing at random (MAR) framework as a sensitivity analysis, to examine possible dropout bias in the treatment effect estimate. If there is variation in intervention session attendance, a further sensitivity analysis will examine the effects of compliance with the intervention in a complier average causal effect analysis.

15.8 Secondary outcomes

Repeated measures analysis using mixed models will be used for those outcomes collected at 3 and 9 months. Linear mixed effects regression will be used to account for clustering by group delivery in the intervention arm (partial effect model) as well as baseline values as covariates where appropriate. Where the assumptions of the linear regression model are not met, transformation or categorisation will be considered. Logistic regression models will be used similarly as above for binary outcomes. Main group effects and 95% confidence intervals will be presented for all outcomes.

77





The Wolfson* Foundation



Exploratory mediation analyses will examine the effects of potential mediators (e.g., improved problem solving skills, improved parent-child relationship) on the primary outcome via the inclusion of the mediator predictor in the primary model. Full details will be given the statistical analysis plan.

16 Data Management

The trial's Data Management Plan (DMP) provides an overview of the data management process to be applied to the trial to assure data quality. The DMP for the SWELL trial will:

- Define the different types of data collection documents used within the SWELL trial
- Define the procedures by which data will be collected, entered, verified and cleaned in the SWELL trial
- Define the procedures to securely manage and store the data
- Define requirements for the retention of SWELL trial data
- Describe the processes and data security measures involved in data linkage as applicable

The current version of the DMP will be followed and securely stored in the trials e-TMF.

16.1 Source Data

Source Data is defined as *"All information in original records and certified copies of original records of clinical findings, observations or other activities in a clinical trial necessary for the reconstruction and evaluation of the trial. Source data are contained in source documents."* There is only one set of source data at any time for any data element, as defined in site source data agreement. Details of source data and responsible personnel are detailed within table 2.

16.2 Data collection

Data analysed and stored, including on desktop and laptop computers, will not be personally identifiable. We have developed a Risk Assessment Form, which addresses issues such as privacy and confidentiality. Please refer to section 12 for further details on data collection and section 20.2 for details on data protection. Data will be collected from source via e-CRFs completed either by; participants directly via questionnaires, on their behalf via telephone call by delegated staff, through recorded interviews and from medical note reviews (see table 2).







16.3 Completion of CRFs

Electronic CRFs

It is intended to develop data recording for this trial as a web-based system. This will be a secure encrypted system accessed by an institutional password and complies with the General Data Protection Regulation 2018. A user password will be supplied to research staff upon completion of all processes required prior to opening (informed consent training, GCP, survey training). A data management plan (DMP) will detail the process. Data quality will be assured through processes detailed in the DMP.

Qualitative Data

Qualitative data recording, storage and management will be detailed and described separately within the DMP and qualitative analysis plan.







Table 2. Source Data

Trial data	Source data					
	eCRF	Audio file	Paper CRF	csv	SAE form	Medical/Clinician Note Review
Screening	X					
Consent	X					
Baseline Questionnaires	x					
DAWBA				X		
Outcome measures	X					
Treatment optimisation	x					x
Intervention delivery (Adherence & Fidelity)		x				X
Baseline and Follow Up interviews		x	x			
Qualitative interviews		x				
Adverse events					X	
Withdrawal	X					

Please see the trial Data Management Plan for detailed information.

17 Protocol/GCP non-compliance

Any non-compliance to the trial protocol or the conditions and principles of Good Clinical Practice should be reported to the CI or to the CTR in writing as soon as possible.

18 End of Trial definition

At the end of the trial, we will have completed the data collection from the online interviews with young people and their parents from the second follow up time point (9-months) as well as qualitative interviews and/or focus groups conducted with participants after the end of their participation in the study, as part of the process evaluation.







19 Archiving

All data will be kept for 15 years in line with Cardiff University's Research Governance Framework Regulations for clinical research and guidance from the MRC. This data will be stored confidentially on password protected servers maintained on the Cardiff University Network.

20 Regulatory Considerations

20.1 Ethical and governance approval

This protocol has received a favourable opinion from Wales NHS Research Ethics Committee (REC) 5 that is legally "recognised" by the United Kingdom Ethics Committee Authority for review and approval (IRAS 305331; REC 22/WA/0254). This trial protocol will be submitted through the relevant permission system for global governance review. Approval will be obtained from the host care organisation who will consider local governance requirements and site feasibility. The study will be conducted in compliance with the UK Policy Framework for Health and Social Care Research, the Cardiff University Research Integrity and Governance Code of Practice and the principles of Good Clinical Practice (GCP).

20.1.1 Ethical Considerations

The main ethical considerations for this trial include obtaining consent, confidentiality, the process of randomisation, the impact of discussing sensitive information and the possibility of worrying disclosures. These are discussed below.

Consent/assent: Obtaining consent from young people needs to be considered carefully, as their age may affect their understanding of the study. Young people in this study will be aged 13-19 years old. Information sheets for participants aged 13-15 years, for older adolescents and for parents will be provided. Written consent will be obtained from all parents, and written assent/consent from all young people taking part. Both parent and young person will be made aware they can change their mind about taking part at any point.

Confidentiality: All information will be treated as confidential. We will not disclose any information that could identify participants, except where specific consent is obtained or where risk to the young





The Wolfson* Foundation



person or others is identified. All data will be stored securely and accessed only by the researchers working on the study (see section 20.2). However, as this is a trial of a group psychological intervention, it is not possible to ensure participant anonymity from the other participants taking part in the same group therapy sessions. All possible measures will be taken to stress the importance of confidentiality in the group therapy setting (see section 20.2 for details). In brief this involves the first group session focusing on participants drawing up and agreeing to a code of conduct emphasising confidentiality and treating the others in the group with dignity and respect.

Randomisation: As this is a randomised controlled trial, only around half of the participants will be randomised to receive the preventative psychological intervention which may provide benefit. However, those who do not receive the intervention will continue with their usual clinical care, so will be at no disadvantage compared to if they did not take part in the trial. All participants will be signposted to relevant resources to support their mental health which are included in the information sheets.

Obtaining sensitive information: Young people, particularly those at increased risk of mental health difficulties, are considered vulnerable. Discussing sensitive topics (e.g. via study questionnaires, interviews and group CBT sessions) have the potential to be distressing for participants. If an individual becomes distressed, the research team will assess their difficulties and provide reassurance if appropriate. If required, they will be advised to see their General Practitioner. Parents taking part, who all have a history of depression, may also become distressed when discussing sensitive topics. They will also be advised to seek help from their GP if appropriate. However, in our previous experience of undertaking studies with this vulnerable population, we have found that participants (parents and young people) usually enjoy the opportunity to think about and discuss the topics in the assessments and report that they have valued the opportunity and being listened to by the research team in a sensitive and non-judgemental way. Researchers will receive thorough training in dealing with ethical issues in a professional, safe, and respectful manner.

Worrying disclosures: When talking to a young person about their mental health and well-being it is possible that they could make worrying disclosures. For example, they may disclose a risk to themselves (e.g. self-harm/suicidal thoughts) or they may raise a child protection issue. There is a





The Wolfson* Foundation



departmental protocol in place to deal with worrying disclosures, which will be dealt with on a case by case basis through consultation with trial clinicians. If necessary, when a young person makes a worrying disclosure, action will be taken to liaise with parents, appropriate medical professionals, and/or social services. Worrying disclosures made by parents will also follow our departmental protocol. We will also measure and document suicidal thoughts and self-harm as an adverse event following the trial AE/SAE reporting procedures.

20.2 Data Protection

We will act to preserve participant confidentiality and will not disclose or reproduce any information by which participants could be identified, except where specific consent is obtained. Data will be stored in a secure manner and will be registered in accordance with the General Data Protection Regulation 2018. The data custodian for this trial is the CI.

It will be stressed that the participation of the young people and parents/carers would be confidential. However, it will be impossible to ensure anonymity for those allocated to take part in the online group therapy sessions. It will be made clear to those participating in the group sessions that their identity (and any other information they choose to disclose during the session) will be shared with others attending the session. During the first group therapy session, young people will be asked to agree to a group code of conduct, including respecting the confidentiality of all group members, and encouraging young people to not disclose information which may identify where they live. There will be a briefing at the start of each online session stressing the importance of confidentiality in the group therapy setting. Group therapy sessions will be audio recorded and participants will be informed that this is the case. Audio recordings will allow researchers working on the trial to monitor the quality of intervention delivery and thus aid in ensuring quality control. We will work closely with the NCMH, CTR data team and university IT team to ensure that all data in electronic format will be stored on secure password-protected computers linked to secured University servers. Data stored on networked servers will be backed up routinely (daily). Any data in paper form will be stored in secure locked storage in rooms with restricted access. Audio recording files will be uploaded into a project-dedicated study folder located on servers with restricted access to authorised researchers only, and the files will be deleted off the recording devices. Data will be





The Wolfson* Foundation



stored for up to 15 years. All data linkage (SAIL) will also be undertaken in accordance with General Data Protection Regulation (2018) and University governance.

The files will be accessed only by the researchers working on the study. No one outside of the research team or appropriate governance staff will be able to find out participant's name, or any other information which could identify them. Audio recordings from qualitative interviews and/or focus groups may be securely transferred to a professional transcription company to be transcribed. It will be made clear to the young people and their families/carers that the only time we would inform others of their participation (e.g. the family doctor or relevant authorities) would be the rare situation when there would be a risk to the young person, parent/guardian or others (e.g. a serious health risk or child protection issue). There will be no personal identifiable information included in any documents e.g. reports or publications disseminated as part of the research. Qualitative interview and/or focus group recordings will not be labelled with the participant's name or identifying information. Written quotes from qualitative interviews and/or focus groups will be used word for word in publications, reports, presentations and training, for example, but data will be de-identified. Participants will be informed about handling of their data in the Participant Information Sheet.

20.3 Indemnity

- Non-negligent harm: This trial is an academic, investigator-led and designed trial, coordinated in
 partnership with the CTR. The CI, local Investigators and coordinating centre do not hold insurance
 against claims for compensation for injury caused by participation in a clinical trial and cannot
 offer any indemnity.
- Negligent harm: The Sponsor shall indemnify the site against claims arising from the negligent acts and/or omissions of the Sponsor or its employees in connection with the Clinical Trial (including the design of the Protocol to the extent that the Protocol was designed solely by the Sponsor and the Site has adhered to the approved version of the Protocol) save to the extent that any such claim is the result of negligence on the part of the Site or its employees.

CARDIFF UNIVERSITY PRIFYSCOL CAERDY CAERDY CAERDY CAERDY Canolfan Ymchwil Treialon



The Wolfson* Foundation



20.4 Trial sponsorship

Cardiff University will act as Sponsor for the trial. Delegated responsibilities will be assigned to the sites taking part in this trial. The Sponsor has/will be delegating certain responsibilities to Cardiff University (CTR), the CI, host sites and other stakeholder organisations as appropriate in accordance with the relevant agreement that is informed by regulation and trial type.

20.5 Funding

The project is funded by the Wolfson Centre for Young People's Mental Health, established with support from the Wolfson Foundation.

21 Trial management

21.1 TMG (Trial Management Group)

TMG members will be required to sign up to the remit and conditions as set out in the TMG Charter. The TMG will meet approximately every 4-6 weeks during the course of the trial. The TMG is composed of the co-investigators, CTR team (Cardiff University) and directly employed staff (named at the beginning of this document).

21.2 TSC (Trial Steering Committee)

TSC members will be required to sign up to the remit and conditions as set out in the TSC Charter. They will meet approximately every 12 months. The TSC will be set up ahead of the opening of trial recruitment and will include members with varying relevant experience, including a young person and a parent with a history of depression.







22 Quality Control and Assurance

22.1 Monitoring

The CI will have overall responsibility for all aspects of the project (including the training/development components) and of adhering to timelines. She will hold regular meetings with the TMG throughout, with services regarding recruitment and with the finance manager to ensure that the research is within the proposed budget.

There will be meetings every 4-6 weeks with the TMG (co-applicants, CTR and directly employed staff), and a 12 monthly TSC meeting. There will be a trials/project manager based at the Cardiff University CTR. The Project Team (CI, directly employed and CTR delivery staff) will meet more frequently (1-2 weekly) to discuss day to day management and delivery issues.

The clinical trial risk assessment will be used to determine the intensity and focus of central monitoring activity in the trial. We anticipate low risk, in which case, low monitoring levels will be employed and will be fully documented in the trial monitoring plan.

Investigators should agree to allow trial related monitoring, including audits and regulatory inspections, by providing direct access to source data/documents as required. Participant consent for this will be obtained.

Findings generated from central monitoring will be shared with the Sponsor, CI & local R&D.

22.2 Audits & inspections

The trial may be participant to inspection and audit by Cardiff University under their remit as Sponsor.

23 Publication policy

The protocol and the results will be written up for publication in a (health) journal and the organisations funding the research will receive a report on the findings. Personal details of the participants will not appear on any of these documents and they will not be identifiable in any way.





The Wolfson* Foundation



All publications and presentations relating to the trial will be authorised by the TMG. To maximise the value of data collected from this study for the scientific community and those affected by depression, we plan to share anonymized data and metadata (e.g. code to derive variables) outputs on Cardiff University's curated institutional research data repository. Participant consent/assent to share anonymized data for future research is contained within the participant consent and assent forms. Currently, Cardiff University's data repository is the Research Portal curated data catalogue (which assigns DOI numbers to datasets) but in 2024 this will become Fig share for Institutions.







24 References

American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fourth Edition, Text Revision (DSM-IV-TR)* Washington, DC, USA: American Psychiatric Association; 2000.

Ascher, B.H., Farmer, E.M.Z., Burns, B.J., & Angold, A. (1996). The child and adolescent services assessment (CASA): Description and psychometrics. Journal of Emotional and Behavioural Disorders, 4(1), 12–20.

Angulo, M., Rooks, B. T., Gill, M., Goldstein, T., Sakolsky, D., Goldstein, B., ... & Birmaher, B. (2017). Psychometrics of the screen for adult anxiety related disorders (SCAARED)-A new scale for the assessment of DSM-5 anxiety disorders. *Psychiatry research*, *253*, 84-90.

Babiker A, Barthel FMS, Choodari-Oskooei B, Royston P, Marley-Zagar E, White I (2015). "ART: Stata module to compute sample size and power for complex randomised trial designs with binary or time-to-event outcomes," Statistical Software Components S458117, Boston College Department of Economics, revised 29 Apr 2024.

Beecham, Jennifer and Knapp, Martin R J. (2001) Costing psychiatric interventions. In: Thornicroft, Graham, ed. Measuring Mental Health Needs (Second Edition). Royal College of Psychiatrists, London, pp. 200-224.

Bosc M, Dubini A, Polin V. Development and validation of a social functioning scale, the Social Adaptation Self-evaluation Scale. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 1997 Apr;7 Suppl 1:S57-70; discussion S71-3. doi: 10.1016/s0924-977x(97)00420-3. PMID: 9169311.

Brent DA, Kolko DJ, Birmaher B, et al. (1998). Predictors of treatment efficacy in a clinical trial of three psychosocial treatments for adolescent depression. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 37(9):906-914.

Brent DA, Brunwasser SM, Hollon SD, Weersing VR, Clarke GN, Dickerson JF, Beardslee WR, Gladstone TR, Porta G, Lynch FL, Iyengar S, Garber J (2015). Effect of a Cognitive-Behavioral Prevention Program on Depression 6 Years After Implementation Among At-Risk Adolescents: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Psychiatry. 72(11):1110-8.

Buntrock C, Ebert DD, Lehr D, et al (2016). Effect of a web-based guided self-help intervention for prevention of major depression in adults with subthreshold depression: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 315(17):1854–1863. doi:10.1001/jama.2016.4326

Caspi A, Moffitt TE, Thornton A, et al. (1996). The life history calendar: a research and clinical assessment method for collecting retrospective event-history data. Int J Methods Psychiatr Res, 6(2):101-114.

Chorpita, B. F., Yim, L., Moffitt, C., Umemoto, L. A., & Francis, S. E. (2000). Assessment of symptoms of DSM-IV anxiety and depression in children: A revised child anxiety and depression







scale. *Behaviour Research and Therapy, 38*(8), 835–855. https://doiorg.abc.cardiff.ac.uk/10.1016/S0005-7967(99)00130-8

Clayborne ZM, Varin M, Colman I (2019). Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis: Adolescent Depression and Long-Term Psychosocial Outcomes. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 58(1):72-79.

Clarke GN. (2003). Leader Manual for the Adolescent Coping with Stress Course. Portland, OR: Kaiser Permanente Center for Health Research.

Cohen S, Kamarck T, Mermelstein R. (1983). A global measure of perceived stress. J Health Soc Behav, 24(4):385-96. PMID: 6668417.

- Conger R , Lasley P, Lorenz FO., Simons R, Whitbeck LB., Elder Jr GH, and Norem R. Iowa Youth and Families Project, 1989-1992. Ann Arbor, MI: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research, 2011-11-03.
- Connor-Smith JK, Compas BE, Wadsworth ME, Thomsen AH, Salzman H (2000). Responses to stress in adolescence: measurement of coping and involuntary stress responses. Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology. 68 (6), 976-992.
- Craig, P., Dieppe, P., Macintyre, S., Michie, S., Nazareth, I., & Petticrew, M. (2013). Developing and evaluating complex interventions: The new Medical Research Council guidance. *International Journal of Nursing Studies*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2012.09.010

Cuijpers, P., Weitz, E., Karyotaki, E. et al. (2015). The effects of psychological treatment of maternal depression on children and parental functioning: a meta-analysis. Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry 24, 237–245.

Department of Health. (2009). *New Horizons: A Shared Vision for Mental Health*. London: Department of Health.

DuPaul, G. (1981). Parent and teacher ratings of ADHD symptoms: psychometric properties in a community based sample. *Journal of Clinical Child Psychology*, *20*, 245–253.)

D'Alessandro, D.U., Burton, K.D. Development and Validation of the Dysfunctional Attitudes Scale for Children: Tests of Beck's Cognitive Diathesis-stress Theory of Depression, of Its Causal Mediation Component, and of Developmental Effects. Cogn Ther Res 30, 335–353 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10608-006-9046-5

D'Zurilla, T. J., Nezu, A. M., & Maydeu-Olivares, A. (2002) Social Problem-Solving Inventory – Revised. APA PsycTests. https://doi.org/10.1037/t05068-000

Eilert N, Timulak L, Duffy D, et al (2021). Following up internet-delivered cognitive behaviour therapy (CBT): A longitudinal qualitative investigation of clients' usage of CBT skills. Clin Psychol Psychother n/a: https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cpp.2619







Eysenck, S. B., Eysenck, H. J., & Barrett, P. (1985). A revised version of the psychoticism scale. Personality and individual differences, 6(1), 21-29.

Garber J, Clarke GN, Weersing VR, et al. (2009). Prevention of depression in at-risk adolescents: a randomized controlled trial. JAMA, 301:2215–2224. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2009.788

Gilbody, S., Brabyn, S., Lovell, K., Kessler, D., Devlin, T., Smith, L., ... & Worthy, G. (2017). Telephone-supported computerised cognitive–behavioural therapy: REEACT-2 large-scale pragmatic randomised controlled trial. *The British journal of psychiatry*, *210*(5), 362-367.

Goodman, R. (1997). The Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire: A Research Note. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 38: 581-586. https://doi-org.abc.cardiff.ac.uk/10.1111/j.1469-7610.1997.tb01545.x

Goodman, R., Ford, T., Richards, H., Gatward, R. and Meltzer, H. (2000). The development and well-being assessment: description and initial validation of an integrated assessment of child and adolescent psychopathology. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 41: 645-655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-7610.2000.tb02345.x</u>

Goodyer, I. M., Reynolds, S., Barrett, B., Byford, S., Dubicka, B., Hill, J., ... & Fonagy, P. (2017). Cognitive behavioural therapy and short-term psychoanalytical psychotherapy versus a brief psychosocial intervention in adolescents with unipolar major depressive disorder (IMPACT): a multicentre, pragmatic, observer-blind, randomised controlled superiority trial. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 4(2), 109-119.

Griffiths, K.M., Christensen, H., & Jorm, A.F. Predictors of depression stigma. BMC Psychiatry 2008; 8:25.

Hamilton M. A rating scale for depression. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1960; 23:56-62

Havinga, P. J., Maciejewski, D. F., Hartman, C. A., Hillegers, M. H. J., Schoevers, R. A., & Penninx, B. W. J. H. (2021). Prevention programmes for children of parents with a mood/anxiety disorder: Systematic review of existing programmes and meta-analysis of their efficacy. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 60(2), 212–251.

Hetrick SE, Cox GR, Merry SN. (2015). Where to go from here? An exploratory meta-analysis of the most promising approaches to depression prevention programs for children and adolescents. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 12(5):4758-4795. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph120504758

Johnson D, Dupuis G, Piche J, Clayborne Z, Colman I. (2018). Adult mental health outcomes of adolescent depression: A systematic review. Depress Anxiety. 35(8):700-716. doi: 10.1002/da.22777









Johnson JH, McCutcheon S. (1980). Assessing Life Stress in Older Children and Adolescents: Preliminary Findings With the Life Events Checklist. New York, NY: Hemisphere Publishing Corp.

Kanter, J. W., Mulick, P. S., Busch, A. M., Berlin, K. S., & Martell, C. R. (2012). Behavioral Activation for Depression Scale (BADS) (Long and Short Form). Measurement Instrument Database for the Social Science. Retrieved from <u>www.midss.ie</u>

Keller MB, Lavori PW, Friedman B, et al (1987) The longitudinal interval follow-up evaluation. A comprehensive method for assessing outcome in prospective longitudinal studies. Arch Gen Psychiatry 44:540–548. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1987.01800180050009

Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB (2001) The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med 16:606–613.

Lee, E. H. (2012). Review of the psychometric evidence of the perceived stress scale. Asian nursing research, 6(4), 121-127

Lewinsohn PM, Rohde P, Seeley JR (1998). Treatment of adolescent depression: frequency of services and impact on functioning in young adulthood. Depress Anxiety. 1998;7(1):47-52.

Margolies PJ, Weintraub S,. (1977). The revised 56-item CRPBI as a research instrument: reliability and factor structure. Journal of Clinical Psychology. 33 (2), 472-476.

Mars B, Collishaw S, Smith D, et al (2012) Offspring of parents with recurrent depression: which features of parent depression index risk for offspring psychopathology? J Affect Disord 136:44–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jad.2011.09.002</u>

Mars, B., Collishaw, S., Hammerton, G., Rice, F., Harold, G. T., Smith, D., ... & Thapar, A. (2015). Longitudinal symptom course in adults with recurrent depression: Impact on impairment and risk of psychopathology in offspring. Journal of affective disorders, 182, 32-38.

Mays N, Pope C, Popay J (2005). Systematically reviewing qualitative and quantitative evidence to inform management and policy-making in the health field. Journal of Health Services Research & Policy. 10:6-20. doi:10.1258/1355819054308576

Melby J., Conger R., Book R., Rueter M., Lucy L., Repinski D.,...& Stavros, T. (1993). The Iowa family interaction rating scale (2nd edn). Ames, IA: Iowa State University Centre for Family Research in Rural Mental health.

Moos, R.H., & Moos, B. S; (1994). Family Environment Scale manual (3rd ed.). Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press.

Moreno-Peral P, Bellón JÁ, Huibers MJH, Mestre JM, García-López LJ, Taubner S, Rodríguez-Morejón A, Bolinski F, Sales CMD, Conejo-Cerón S (2020). Mediators in psychological and psychoeducational interventions for the prevention of depression and anxiety. A systematic review. Clin Psychol Rev. 76:101813. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2020.101813.









Muñoz RF, Beardslee WR, Leykin Y (2012). Major depression can be prevented. Am Psychol, 67(4):285-295.

National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) (2009) Depression in adults: recognition and management.

Ofcom (2020). Ofcom nations & regions technology tracker 2020: 9th January to 7th March 2020.

Pilowsky DJ, Wickramaratne P, Talati A, Tang M, Hughes CW, Garber J, Malloy E, King C, Cerda G, Sood AB, Alpert JE, Trivedi MH, Fava M, Rush AJ, Wisniewski S, Weissman MM (2008). Children of depressed mothers 1 year after the initiation of maternal treatment: findings from the STARPD-Child study. Am J Psychiatry ; 165:1136–1147.

Radloff LS (1977). The CES-D scale: a self-report depression scale for research in the general population. Appl Psychol Meas., 1(3):385–401.

Radloff LS (1991) The use of the center for epidemiologic studies depression scale in adolescents and young adults. J Youth Adolesc 20:149–166.

Rasing SPA, Creemers DHM, Janssens JMAM, Scholte RHJ (2017). Depression and anxiety prevention based on cognitive behavioral therapy for at-risk adolescents: A meta-analytic review. Front Psychol; 8: 1066.

Rennie, D., (2001) CONSORT revised – improving the reporting of randomized trials. JAMA, 285:2006-7.

Rice F, Harold G, Thapar A (2002). The genetic aetiology of childhood depression: a review. J Child Psychol Psychiatry; 43(1):65-79. doi: 10.1111/1469-7610.00004. PMID: 11848337.

Rice F, Sellers R, Hammerton G, et al (2017). Antecedents of New-Onset Major Depressive Disorder in Children and Adolescents at High Familial Risk. JAMA Psychiatry. 74(2):153–160. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2016.3140

Richards, D., Duffy, D., Blackburn, B. et al. Digital IAPT: the effectiveness & cost-effectiveness of internet-delivered interventions for depression and anxiety disorders in the Improving Access to Psychological Therapies programme: study protocol for a randomised control trial. BMC Psychiatry 18, 59 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12888-018-1639-5

Richards D, Enrique A, Eilert N, et al (2020) A pragmatic randomized waitlist-controlled effectiveness and cost-effectiveness trial of digital interventions for depression and anxiety. npj Digit Med 3:85.







Richardson LP, McCauley E, Grossman DC, et al. Evaluation of the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 Item for detecting major depression among adolescents. Pediatrics. 2010;126(6):1117-1123. doi:10.1542/peds.2010-0852

Ritchie, J. and Spencer, L. (1994) Qualitative Data Analysis for Applied Policy Research. In: Bryman, A. and Burgess, R., Eds., Anal. Qual. Data, Routledge, London, 173-194. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203413081_chapter_9</u>

Robin, A. L., & Foster, S. L. (1989). Negotiating parent-adolescent conflict: A behavioral family systems approach. New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Royston, P., Parmar, M.K. (2013). Restricted mean survival time: an alternative to the hazard ratio for the design and analysis of randomized trials with a time-to-event outcome. BMC Med Res Methodol, 13:152 (2013). https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2288-13-152

Schwarzer, R., & Jerusalem, M. (1995). Generalized Self-Efficacy scale. In J. Weinman, S. Wright, & M. Johnston, Measures in health psychology: A user's portfolio. Causal and control beliefs (pp. 35-37). Windsor, UK: NFER-NELSON.

Shaffer, D., Gould, M.S., Brasic, J., Ambrosini, P., Fisher, P., Bird, H., & Aluwahlia, S. (1983). A Children's Global Assessment Scale (CGAS). Archives of General Psychiatry, 40, 1228-1231.

Skuse, D., Mandy, W., & Scourfield, J. (2005). Measuring autistic traits: Heritability, reliability and validity of the Social and Communication Disorders Checklist. *British Journal of Psychiatry*, *187*(6):568-572. doi:10.1192/bjp.187.6.568

Stattin H, Kerr M. Parental monitoring: a reinterpretation. Child Dev. 2000 Jul-Aug;71(4):1072-85. doi: 10.1111/1467-8624.00210. PMID: 11016567.

Stephens A, Allardyce J, Weavers B, Lennon J, Bevan Jones R. Powell V, Eyre O, Potter R, Escott Price V, Osborn D, Thapar A, Thapar AK, Heron J, Rice F (2022). Developing and validating a prediction model of adolescent major depressive disorder in offspring of depressed parents. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry. Published online 12th September 2022. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcpp.13704

Stockings E, Degenhardt L, Lee YY, Mihalopoulos C, Liu A, Hobbs M, Patton G. Symptom screening scales for detecting major depressive disorder in children and adolescents: a systematic review and meta-analysis of reliability, validity and diagnostic utility. J Affect Disord. 2015 Mar 15;174:447-63. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2014.11.061. Epub 2014 Dec 6. PMID: 25553406.

Stringaris A, Goodman R, Ferdinando S, Razdan V, Muhrer E, Leibenluft E, Brotman MA (2012). The Affective Reactivity Index: A concise irritability scale for clinical and research settings. Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry, 53:1109-1117. PMCID: PMC3484687.







Thapar, A., Collishaw, S., Pine, D. S., & Thapar, A. K. (2012). Depression in adolescence. *The Lancet*. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60871-4

Warshaw MG, Keller MB, Stout RL (1994). Reliability and validity of the longitudinal interval follow-up evaluation for assessing outcome of anxiety disorders. J Psychiatr Res, 28 (6):531-45.

Wille N, Badia X, Bonsel G, Burstrom K, Cavrini G, Devlin N, Egmar AC, Greiner W, Gusi N, Herdman M, Jelsma J. (2012) Development of the EQ-5D-Y: a child-friendly version of the EQ-5D. Qual Life Res, 19(6):875-886.

Wing JK, Babor MD, Brugha T, Burke J, Cooper JE, Giel R et al. (1990). SCAN: Schedules for Clinical Assessment in Neuropsychiatry. Arch Gen Psychiatry; 47(6): 589-93.

Wood, A., Kroll, L., Moore, A., Harrington, R. (1995). Properties of the Mood and Feelings Questionnaire in Adolescent Psychiatric Outpatients: A Research Note. J. Child Psychol. Psychiatry 36, 327–334.

World Health Organization. The global burden of disease: 2004 update. Geneva, Switzerland, WHO (2008).

World Health Health Organisation (2010). Measuring Health and Disability: manual for WHO Disability Assessment Schedule. Geneva, Switzerland, WHO.